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1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1 Domestic Homicide Reviews (DHRs) were established under Section 9(3), Domestic 
Violence, Crime and Victims Act 2004.  

1.2 This report of the DHR (hereafter ‘the review’) examines agency responses and support 
given to Hassan (pseudonym), a Bristol resident who lodged with Omar (pseudonym) until 
his death in January 2019. Hassan was aged  at the time of his death. He was of Somali 
origins and came to the UK in 2014 via Holland. Omar aged  is also of Somali origin and 
has resided in the UK for over 20 years. This review was commissioned on the basis that 
Hassan was a member of the same household as Omar.  

1.3 Following a call to police from Omar’s cousin stating that Omar had killed someone, police 
attended and located Omar, forced entry to their address and found Hassan deceased, 
having suffered multiple stab wounds. 

1.4 Omar was arrested and charged. He subsequently pleaded guilty to murder and was 
sentenced to life imprisonment with a minimum tariff of two years.  

1.5 This Domestic Homicide Review was commissioned by Safer Bristol Partnership (now 
known as the Keeping Bristol Safe Partnership) to consider agencies contact/ involvement 
with Hassan and Omar for the 5 years prior to Hassan’s death in January 2019.  In addition 
to agency involvement, the review will also examine the past to identify any relevant 
background or trail of abuse before the homicide, whether support was accessed within the 
community and whether there were any barriers to accessing support.  By taking a holistic 
approach, the review seeks to identify appropriate solutions to make the future safer.    

1.6 The primary purpose for undertaking DHRs is to enable lessons to be learned from 
homicides where a person is killed as a result of domestic violence and abuse. In order for 
these lessons to be learned as widely and thoroughly as possible, professionals need to be 
able to understand fully what happened in each homicide, and most importantly, what 
needs to change in order to reduce the risk of such tragedies happening in the future.  

1.7 This review process does not take the place of the criminal or coroner’s courts, nor does it 
take the form of a disciplinary process.  

1.8 The review panel expresses its sympathy to the family, and friends of Hassan for their loss.  

1.9 The panel are mindful; they have not been able to speak to any of Hassan’s friends or 
family and are reliant on the perspective of Omar’s friends and family. 

1.10 The review panel also extend thanks to the family of Omar, for their contributions and 
support for this process.   

 

2. TIMESCALES  

2.1 The Keeping Bristol Safe Partnership (the Bristol Community Safety Partnership), 
commissioned this DHR in accordance with the ‘Statutory Guidance for the Conduct of 
Domestic Homicide Reviews’. The Home Office were notified of the decision in writing on 
19th March 2019.   

2.2 Mark Wolski was commissioned to provide an Independent Chair (hereafter ‘the chair’) for 
this DHR in September 2019. The completed report was passed to the Community Safety 
Partnership in July 2022. It was submitted by the Community Safety Partnership to the 
Home Office Quality Assurance Panel in September 2022.  
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4.3 The timeframe for this DHR was agreed as at least 5 years prior to the death of Hassan in 
January 2019, except for any other relevant information relating to domestic abuse prior to 
this date. Where appropriate, information outside of this time period is included to provide 
context and also to explore noteworthy events prior to the relevant period. 

4.4 Key lines of enquiry and examination within the terms of reference were set agreed as. 

Term 1 – Family awareness of abuse and barriers to reporting. 

 
4.4.1 Whether family, friends or colleagues want to participate in the review. If so, ascertain 

whether they were aware of any abusive behaviour to the victim, prior to the homicide (any 
disclosure, not time limited). 

4.4.2 In relation to the family members, whether they were aware of any abuse and of any 
barriers experienced in reporting abuse? Or best practice that facilitated reporting it? 

   Term 2 – Interagency Communication 
 
4.4.3 Could improvement in any of the following have led to a different outcome for Hassan 

considering: - 

a) Communication and information sharing between services with regard to the 
safeguarding of adults. 

b) Communication within services  
 
c) Communication and publicity to the general public and non-specialist services about 

the nature and prevalence of domestic abuse, and available local specialist services 
 

Term 3 – Standards and Policy 
 

4.4.4 Whether the work undertaken by services in this case are consistent with each 
organisation’s:  

a) Professional standards  
 
b) Domestic abuse policy, procedures and protocols  

 
Term 4 – Agency Actions (Assessment, Actions, Relevance and Timeliness) 

 
4.4.5 The response of the relevant agencies to any referrals relating to Hassan concerning 

domestic abuse or other significant harm from 2013. It will seek to understand what 
decisions were taken and what actions were or were not carried out and establish the 
reasons. In particular, the following areas will be explored:  

a) Identification of the key opportunities for assessment, decision making and effective 
intervention in this case from the point of any first contact onwards with victim or  
perpetrator. 

 
b) Whether any actions taken were in accordance with assessments and decisions 

made and whether those interventions were timely and effective.  
 
c) Whether appropriate services were offered/provided and/or relevant enquiries made 

in the light of any assessments made.  
 
d) The quality of any risk assessments undertaken by each agency in respect of 

Hassan, children or perpetrators. 
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Term 5 - Thresholds 
 

4.4.6 Whether organisational thresholds for levels of intervention were set appropriately and/or 
applied correctly, in this case.  

   Term 6 – Cultural Sensitivity 
 

4.4.7 Whether practices by all agencies were sensitive to the ethnic, cultural, linguistic and 
religious identity of the respective individuals and whether any specialist needs on the part 
of the subjects were explored, shared appropriately and recorded.  

   Term 7 – Escalation 
 

4.4.8 Whether issues were escalated to senior management or other organisations and 
professionals, if appropriate, and completed in a timely manner.  

   Term 8 – Training and Awareness issues 
 
4.4.9 Whether, any training or awareness raising requirements are identified to ensure a greater 

knowledge and understanding of domestic abuse processes and/or services. 

 

5. METHODOLOGY  

5.1 The decision to undertake this DHR was taken by the Independent Chair of Bristol 
Community Safety Partnership. 

5.2 The Review has been conducted in accordance with Statutory Guidance under S9(3) 
Domestic Violence, Crime and Victims Act (2004) and the expectation of the Multi-Agency 
Statutory Guidance for the Conduct of Domestic Homicide Reviews December 2016.  

5.3 Criminal proceedings were ongoing at the time the review commenced, but at the time the 
first panel meeting had commenced, Omar had pleaded guilty, and sentencing awaited the 
result of psychiatric assessments.  

5.4 This review has followed the statutory guidance. On notification of the homicide, agencies 
were asked to check for their involvement with any of the parties concerned and secure 
their records. The approach adopted was to seek Individual Management Reviews (IMRs) 
for all the organisations and agencies that had contact with Hassan and Omar during the 
relevant time.   

 
5.5 A full list of agencies who were asked to examine their records and an indication of whether 

they had contact with either Hassan or Omar is shown at Appendix B.          
 
5.6 A total of 37 agencies were contacted to check for involvement. Eleven agencies reported 

contact. Written contributions are outlined at Table 2. Of the agencies who had contact, but 
had not completed any formal report, this was owing to the historic nature of their contact. 

 
5.7 The review panel comprised of agencies from Bristol, as the victim and perpetrator were 

living in that area at the time of the homicide. Agencies were contacted as soon as possible 
after the review was established to inform them of the review, their participation and the 
need to secure their records.  

5.8 At the first meeting, the review panel considered the overview of the circumstances. The 
panel learned that this was the second DHR commissioned within the Somali community. 
At the chair’s request, Bristol Community Safety Partnership identified a local specialist 
representative to assist engaging with BAME groups and communities.  
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5.9 The terms of reference were agreed and to be kept under review to take advantage of any, 
as yet, unidentified sources of information or relevant individuals or organisations.    

5.10 The first panel meeting took place on 5th September 2019. Subsequent panel meetings 
took place on 16th January 2020, 6th November 2020, 29th July 2021,10th December 
2021,17th May 2022 and 20th July 2022. 

 
5.11 A number of delays impeded progress of this review, including the coronavirus pandemic. 

In addition, there was a delay in identifying a local panel representative with the reach into 
the local Somali community who was able to commit to panel meetings or meetings with 
the chair. In July 2021, the chair asked that a new representative be identified. This person 
successfully facilitated a round table discussion with community representatives, and 
contact with Hassan’s family. The chair would like to acknowledge this representative’s 
support and how vital their contribution has been in informing this review. 

5.12 Notwithstanding these delays, a number of other meetings and conversations took place 
outside the full panel meetings. This included two meetings between the chair, police and 
ambulance service, and two meetings between the chair, CCG and AWP. 

 
  Documents Reviewed:   

 
5.11 In addition to the documents reviewed at table 2, the chair has also been provided with 

access to the following; 

• Root cause analysis report by AWP 

• Police MG5 (summary of key evidence) 

• A published account of the Judge’s summing up 

• Local “Violence Against Women and Girls” strategy documents 

• Demographic information from the local Joint Strategic Needs Analysis 

• Local ward profile 

• South Western Ambulance Service: Mental Health and Capacity Considerations in 
Patients Who Present as Having Self-Harmed or Attempted Suicide (October 2020) 

• Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 

• Covid – Equalities Impact Assessment Form for Bristol 
. 

6. INVOLVEMENT OF FAMILY, FRIENDS, WORK COLLEAGUES, 
NEIGHBOURS AND WIDER COMMUNITY 

Hassan’s Family 

6.1 The police have been working with a cousin of Hassan throughout this investigation and had 
no contact with Hassan’s parents and four siblings, an older brother, a younger brother and 
two younger sisters who according to police information live in Somalia. 

6.2 The chair spoke to the family liaison officer (FLO) before sending letters and learned that the 
cousin had declined the offer of any support from the Homicide Support Service. The chair 
arranged for the police FLO to deliver his letter and the formal notification of the DHR from 
the Bristol Community Safety Partnership in late October 2019. The letters outlined the 
support available through Victim Support and Advocacy After Fatal Domestic Abuse 
(AAFDA) along with Home Office leaflets. 

6.3 The chair followed up the letters with a number of phone calls on the 31st October 2019, 
then from the 4th through to the 10th November before finally speaking to the cousin. In this 
conversation, the cousin said that the family were trying to move on with their lives and did 
not want to take part in the process. 
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6.4 At around this time, criminal proceedings were still ongoing, and the chair maintained 
monthly contact with the FLO as proceedings and hearings took place. During the period 
November through to February it became clearer that the cousin and family were not 
attending court and no longer welcomed contact from the FLO. At this stage, the chair 
decided to give a period of time to the nominated family lead, a period to allow the review to 
continue and other enquiries to continue, in order to respect his decision to try and move on. 

6.5 The chair sought information from the police regarding wider family in the UK and learned 
that there were no other family details known to them, and they did not have contact details 
for direct family in Somalia. 

6.6 The Bristol Community Safety Partnership sought the assistance of a local community expert 
to assist with identifying family members and providing a community perspective. Efforts 
were thwarted during 2020 by the coronavirus pandemic. 

6.7 In April 2020, the chair identified the funeral directors responsible for Hassan’s funeral 
service and sought their assistance. Following a number of telephone conversations and 
emails (4th,6th,12th May) the funeral director’s intention had been to try and identify family and 
community members who knew Hassan. The chair sent further emails on 20th June and 26th 
July. In the absence of any response, this line of enquiry was concluded. 

6.8 The chair also wrote to the Somali Embassy in November 2020, seeking assistance in 
contacting Hassan’s family. No response was received. 

6.9 During the summer of 2021, the chair again phoned the cousin, who re-iterated his position. 
Recognising potential cultural barriers, the chair requested further support to reach out to the 
family. A new community specialist was identified who spoke Somali was identified and 
following a discussion with the chair once again reached out to the family. Whilst he declined 
to be involved, he was able to provide a perspective on Hassan, but again re-iterated that 
the family wished to move on, expressing a view that they had accepted what ‘Allah’ had 
ordained for Hassan. 

Omar’s family, friends and wider community 

6. 10 The chair sought the assistance of the police and agencies to identify family and friends’ 
community and was able to speak to four individuals, including a brother, cousin and friends.  

 Wider community 

6.11 The second community specialist appointed in the summer of 2021 was able to reach out to 
wider community representatives from two organisations that have strong links with the local 
population. These were ‘CaafiHealth’ and the ‘Somali Recourse Centre’. The community 
specialist hosted a meeting between the chair and these organisations in January 2022. 

 Perpetrator 

6.12 The review process began when the criminal proceedings had not been completed and so 
the chair decided not to make initial contact in order not to interfere with those proceedings. 

6.13 Whilst Omar pleaded guilty to manslaughter, there were considerable delays in sentencing 
from December and through the spring of 2020, as Omar was being assessed and receiving 
treatment for his mental illness and owing to the lockdown restrictions resulting from the 
coronavirus pandemic. Given broader delays resulting from the lockdown, the chair delayed 
making contact until assessments of Omar and sentencing had been completed, again in 
order to avoid any interference in proceedings.  

6.14 Following sentencing, the chair wrote to the governor of the prison, asking for a letter to be 
passed to Omar. Whilst the chair did not receive a response, he arranged an initial 
discussion with Omar on 6th October. A video call took place and Omar asked that he speak 
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Foundry Risk Management  Co-chair 

Bristol, North Somerset and South 
Gloucestershire Clinical 
Commissioning Group (BNSSG 
CCG) on behalf of GP practice 

 Head of Adult Safeguarding  

Bristol, North Somerset and South 
Gloucestershire Clinical 

   
      

 Named GP Adult Safeguarding 

Bristol, North Somerset and South 
Gloucestershire Clinical 

   
      

 Authoring for CCG 

Avon and Wiltshire Mental Health 
Partnership NHS Trust 

 Head of Safeguarding 
 

Bristol City Council Housing and 
Landlord Services (BCC H&LS) 

 Policy and Project Officer 

Bristol City Council Housing and 
Landlord Services (BCC H&LS) 

 Interim Head of Estate 
Management 

Bristol City Council Children and 
Family Services 

 Consultant Social Worker 

Avon and Somerset Constabulary  Partnership Liaison Manager 

Avon and Somerset Constabulary  DI 

Avon and Somerset Constabulary  DCI Policy and Support 
 

Avon and Somerset Constabulary  DCI (Senior Investigating 
Officer) 

South Western Ambulance 
Service NHS Foundation Trust 
(SWASFT) 

 Head of Safeguarding 
 

Bristol City Council Community 
Safety 

 Community Co-ordinator 

Victim Support  Contract Account Manager 

 

8.2 Agency representatives were of appropriate level of expertise and were independent of the 
case. 

8.3 The review panel met a total of six times, with the first meeting on 5th September 2019 and 
subsequent meetings on 16th January 2020, 6th November 2020, 29th July 2021,10th 
December 2021 and 17th May 2022.  

8.4 The chair of the review wishes to thank everyone who contributed their time, patience and 
cooperation to this review. 

 

9. AUTHOR OF THE OVERVIEW REPORT  

9.1 The chair of the review was Mark Wolski.  Mark has completed his Home Office approved 
training and has attended subsequent training by Advocacy After Fatal Domestic Abuse.  
He completed 30 years exemplary service with the Metropolitan Police Service retiring at 
the rank of Superintendent.  During his service he gained significant experience leading the 
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response to Domestic Abuse, Public Protection and Safeguarding. (See Appendix C for 
Statement of Independence). 

 

10. PARALLEL REVIEWS  

Criminal trial:  

10.1 Criminal proceedings were ongoing when the DHR process commenced. Omar pleaded 
guilty to manslaughter and was subsequently sentenced on 14th August 2020 sentenced to 
life imprisonment with a minimum time to serve of 2 years. 

10.2 Delays in sentencing were owing to psychiatric evaluations of Omar and in summing up, 
His Honour Judge Blair QC provides a useful insight for the purposes of this Review. 

I have to sentence you for the manslaughter of Hassan,  who you had, 
as I understand it, given some accommodation because he had nowhere to live at the time 
and so he was staying at your address in Easton as a result of your 
kindness to him by providing that accommodation.  

You have a history of psychiatric problems which appear, certainly, to have become 
evident in 2008 when you were convicted of an offence contrary to Section 20 of the 
Offences Against the Person Act and were sentenced to 6 months’ imprisonment. Ten 
years before that, you had served a 3-month prison sentence for another Section 20 
offence. 

Neither of them, obviously, have anything of the seriousness of what you now face before 
me but I am told that it was in 2008 that you began to take an anti-psychotic medication. 
That had a number of side effects which were troubling you. You took that medication, it 
would seem from what I have read, for something like nine or ten years and it does seem 
that the side effects were such that you were advised by medics to stop using that drug. 
That may have been sometime in the summer of 2017, it might have been in the spring of 
2018. Whichever it was, certainly, it would seem that for six months or so before this killing, 
you had not been taking anti-psychotic medication. It would appear that you were taking 
some anti-depressant and something to deal with those side effects that you had previously 
been suffering from anti-psychotic medication. 

You, it seems, were noted by the community and your family of having a deterioration in 
your mental health after you stopped that medication. Dr H, in her report, describes how 
you and your family provide consistent and unerring accounts of a deterioration, which 
include paranoid and grandiose delusional beliefs, auditory hallucinations, agitated and 
threatening behaviour and self-harm prior to your arrest and, in the days leading up to this 
offence, the family described an increase in threats of serious violence towards family 
members, including threats to kill and threats to set afire. 

That was very much corroborated by a prison psychiatric nurse, who soon after your 
admission to prison after your arrest, made it absolutely beyond any doubt that you were 
clearly mentally unwell, psychotic, paranoid and really ill. It is the case, it seems, that you 
did see your general practitioner a week before this killing, when you were going to see the 
doctor for another pain that you were suffering. It seems there was a conversation of a 
general nature, and it does seem that you were saying that you were generally OK.  

It is said on your behalf that in fact, you plainly were not and that may, indeed, have been 
because you did not have the insight by then as to just how unwell you were, having 
stopped taking the medication many months earlier. There was a gradual deterioration and 
the stage at which you became less aware of that, because of your psychosis, is not clear. 
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It cannot be overlooked that, at the police station, when interviewed for this offence, you 
acknowledged that you heard voices, became extremely confused and that you had 
stopped taking medication because you had felt well again and would go back to it when 
feeling unwell, and understood that it was a drug, when it had been prescribed, that should 
be taken consistently and acknowledged you were a fool for stopping taking it, the voices 
returning when you stopped the drug so you had some insight, in my view, into how things 
were beginning to deteriorate. What I do not know is how long it was before this incident 
that you really lost insight into it.  

Coroner:  

10.2 The Coroner following conclusion of criminal proceedings decided that further coronial 
proceedings were not required, and the case closed without an inquest. 

11. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY  

11.1 The review panel considered all the protected characteristics of age, disability, gender 
reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion and 
belief, sex and sexual orientation during the review process. 

11.2 At the first meeting of the review panel, it identified that the protected characteristics of 
sexual orientation, race and disability needed to be considered in this review.  

Sexual orientation 

11.3 Hassan and Omar were sharing a home as tenant and lodger, there was no information 
presented to the review to suggest they were intimate partners.  

Race   

11.4 Race and ethnic origin was considered important, as both Hassan and Omar were of 
Somali origin, living in a ward with a significantly higher BAME population, but also showing 
higher than average crime rates, the highest premature mortality rates and with high 
indices of deprivation.1 A further report entitled “Community Profile, Somalis Living in 
Bristol’ shows a very clear focal point for the Somali population for this ward. 

11.5 The panel learned that Hassan and Omar were from different areas of North Africa 
(16.7.3), one from British Somaliland and the other the Italian administered ‘United Nations 
Trust Territory of Somalia’ that merged into the Republic of Somalia. This was considered 
important in terms of exploring whether that may in any way explain the tragic events, but 
also in terms of considering why the chair found it problematic engaging with Hassan’s 
family, as opposed to Omar’s family. 

  
Disability 

11.6 Disability was considered as it was apparent that Omar suffered from diagnosed Mental 
Health illnesses. The Human Rights Act 2010 defines disability as “A person has a 
disability if she or he has a physical or mental impairment which has a substantial and long-
term adverse effect on that person's ability to carry out normal day-to-day activities”. 2  

 
11.7 The panel also considered the social and medical models of disability, which is usefully 

summarised by the University of Leicester; “There are a number of ‘models’ of disability 
which have been defined over the last few years. The two most frequently mentioned are 
the ‘social’ and the ‘medical’ models of disability. The medical model of disability views 

 
1 Source: https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/436737/Lawrence+Hill.pdf/bec15541-2bf1-4702-9d70-
c9f5d54f8bb2 (Accessed 28th December 2019) 
2 Source: https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/equality-act/protected-characteristics#disability (Accessed 
December 2019) 
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Background Information relating to Perpetrator   

13.2.5 Omar was  at the time of Hassan’s death. He was of Somali origin and immigration 
records indicate that he had been in the UK for over 20 years. He was not in employment at 
the time of the homicide. 

13.2.6 He was the registered tenant and occupier of the flat where the Homicide took place. 

13.2.7 During the relevant period he was known to the police for a small number of domestic 
incidents with a former partner. Prior to the relevant period in 1996 and 2008 he had been 
convicted for acts of violence. He was well known to his GP and specialist mental health 
care professionals owing to mental illness including diagnosed Post Traumatic Stress 
Disorder (PTSD). PTSD is a mental disorder that may develop after exposure to 
exceptionally threatening or horrifying events. 7 

13.3 Family Make Up 

13.3.1 Hassan is one of five siblings. His two brothers, two sisters and his parents still reside in 
Somalia. The family are from the ‘Hawiye tribe’ in Somalia. Police dealt with a cousin of 
Hassan resident in the Bristol area as his direct family. They did not attempt to speak to his 
family in Somalia. 

13.4 Events of the Murder 

13.4.1 In January 2019, police had called at Omar’s address to speak to him regarding an 
allegation that he had threatened another person. Having left a calling card, Omar attended 
the local police station, and the matter was dealt with by way of informal advice. 

13.4.2 Later that day a cousin of Omar called the police and reported that Omar had knocked on 
the door and said that he had just murdered someone in his property. Omar was covered in 
blood. 

13.4.2 Police were called and arrived shortly afterwards at Omar’s home address. They forced 
entry and found Hassan lying on the floor of one of the bedrooms with a wound to his chest. 
Paramedics attended and could not find a pulse. 

13.4.3 Within the hour, a registered doctor attended and pronounced that Hassan was dead. 

13.5 Post Mortem 

The post mortem determined the cause of death as multiple stab wounds, including wounds 
to the arm, face and wound close to the heart. 

13.6 Investigation and Outcome 

13.6.1 Following investigation, Omar was charged with Hassan’s murder. He subsequently 
appeared at Bristol Crown Court. He pleaded guilty to manslaughter and underwent 
psychiatric assessment. Following a number of adjournments, on the 20th August 2020, he 
was sentenced to life imprisonment and recommended to serve a minimum of two years. 

13.7 Coronial Process 

13.7.1 No coronial proceedings took place following the criminal trial.  

 

14. CHRONOLOGY 

 
7 Source: https://www.bmj.com/content/351/bmj.h6161 (Accessed May 2020) 
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 The chair has sought the views of Hassan’s family as described at section 6 above. 
Regrettably, it has not been possible to determine any great detail about him and the 
acknowledged the challenge this presented in terms of representing the experience and 
perspective of the victim in this case. Conversely, the chair has been able to speak to a 
number of friends and family of the perpetrator Omar. 

14.1 Background History of Hassan 

14.1.1 The background detail provided has been arrived at through the local knowledge of the 
second community representative assigned to work with the chair on this review, and from 
their contact with the next of kin that the police were dealing with. 

14.1.2     He arrived in the UK a few years before the homicide, settling in the Bristol area owing to 
contacts and relatives in the area. It is understood that he worked in the UK to support his 
family in Somalia. He was not and never had been married. 

14.1.3 Hassan is described by his cousin as being ‘kind and gentle’ always willing to help others. 
He was devoted to his family, striving to better the lives of his mother and siblings in 
Somalia. 

14.2 Background History of Omar  

14.2.1 It is understood that Omar’s family are from a different tribe in Somaliland, that is in an area 
within the Former British Somaliland Protectorate. It is further understood that whilst Omar 
and Hassan were from different tribes, their tribes share some common experiences from 
North Africa in terms of familial experience of war and trauma.  

14.2.2 In March 2020 the chair spoke to some of Omar’s family and friends, asking for an overview 
of Omar’s life.  

  Family/Friend member 1   

He explained that Omar had arrived in the UK about 30 years ago in the 1990’s and had 
been suffering from some form of trauma owing to the war. Upon arrival in the UK, he began 
to show signs of mental illness that he described as psychosis. He also said that Omar had 
witnessed a cousin being killed in Cardiff that had an effect on his mental health. 

He recalls Omar spending some periods of hospital receiving treatment for his mental 
illness. It seems that Omar did not always take his medication and one of the reasons 
related to some side effects that included involuntary facial movements. For a man like Omar 
who was very proud, this was very difficult, and he said this was very distressing for Omar.  
He further described that when he didn’t take his medication, Omar would begin to hear 
voices and also accuse him of spying on Omar. 

When asked about what other help Omar had, he explained that a cousin used to go to the 
doctors with him and also help him. In effect acting as an advocate, carer or support worker. 

The chair asked him, if Omar had attempted any traditional Somali therapies8, but as far as 
he knew, Omar hadn’t. 

He spoke about an incident in December, where Omar had been armed with a big knife, 
cutting himself. He had called 999 and he says that the police had said nothing to do with 
them and to call an ambulance. He thinks that the ambulance service just knocked on the 
door and didn’t see him.  

 
8 Traditional treatments of mental illness in Somalia − People with mental illness are treated through religious and social support (e.g., 

family and clan) including methods and ritualistic dancing. − Ziyara (visiting) local shrines or a living wali (a friend of God) are also used 

as healing. Source: CSO-M.Health Report.pdf (councilofsomaliorgs.com)  
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He then went on to describe what he knew of the events before the homicide and that there 
had been a dispute about money Omar had leant many years previously. Following an 
allegation, he understood that Omar went to the police station and that after a few questions 
he was allowed to leave.  

Upon asking about Hassan, he said that Omar was a very kind man and that he had taken 
Hassan in. He said that Hassan was basically homeless and had lived with Omar for about a 
year. He says that the community had advised him to leave owing to Omar’s behaviour, but 
Hassan had said Omar was ok with him and hence remained. He also explained that other 
men had been staying at the address, but they had left owing to Omar’s behaviour. 

On speaking further about Hassan and his family, he said that the families of both Omar and 
Hassan had spoken, and some elders had been involved and as far as the families were 
concerned, an agreement had been reached. 

In summary he took the view that the police response was inadequate and that matters had 
been swept under the carpet 

Family/Friend member 2  

She had known Omar for about 30 years, describing him as a nice, kind person who had 
struggled with his mental health over the years including an attempted suicide about 20 
years ago. 

On enquiring about treatment, she spoke about his GP and that she had attended with him 
on occasion, when he was struggling with a condition that resulted in facial tics and 
involuntary movements of his face. He couldn’t close his mouth properly and his tongue 
would hang out. 

She explained that she had also been with him when he visited the hospital. We spoke 
about traditional Somali treatment, and she did not think that he had tried any such therapies 

On exploring how his condition affected him, she said there was considerable stigma about 
mental illness in the Somali community and that no-one wanted to be known as suffering 
from a mental illness. 

She reflected that Omar had tried very hard to manage his condition, but on occasion he had 
episodes of agitation. She went on to say that he sometimes threatened people in the 
community, and she was aware that this had sometimes been reported to the police. She 
said that people in the community had been saying that he could kill somebody, and that 
people were afraid of him. She continued that the police didn’t care to look for information 
that was logged about him when they were dealing with him. Asked about any examples 
when she felt this was the case, she explained this was when he had threatened to kill 
someone. 

She then went on to say that the issues with Omar were the tip of an iceberg of mental 
health problems in the Somali community and that it was her feeling that the community are 
not listened to, that there is no information of where to seek help. She said that ‘they’ the 
Somali community unsure how to present themselves/seek help.  

The conversation of mental health and the Somali community continued and she 
volunteered that she felt the end result was young Somali men suffering with mental health 
problems and ending up in prison and that an examination of murders in Bristol involving 
young Somali men would demonstrate the scale of the issue. 

Asked about how the police and other authorities engaged with the Somali community, it 
was her feeling that engagement took place in the moment of a crisis as opposed to being 
more planned. 
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Family/Friend member 3  

They had known Omar for around twenty years, coming from the same clan, he described 
himself as being a good friend. 

He said that Omar had serious mental health issues and didn’t know how to control himself, 
having had problems with a previous partner and spent time in jail. 

In the period immediately before the murder, he says that Omar had made threats to others. 
He says that he had received calls from the community about his behaviour, looking to stab 
someone. He himself called the police, told them where Omar lived and believes that not 
sufficient weight was put behind what he what he was saying.  

Upon asking where Omar had got support from, he said that he knew a cousin had helped 
him, that he had a GP and took medication. He also explained that Omar had told him he 
had missed his medication and that he had said to him that he had been given the wrong 
medication. 

On asking about Omar’s home circumstances, he said that there were two or three others 
who had been living with Omar along with Hassan. They had moved out a few weeks 
previously because of Omar’s behaviour and others had advised Hassan he ought to move 
out. He was unaware how long Hassan had lived with Omar and didn’t know Hassan 
himself, he was new to the area, having come from the Netherlands. 

Family/Friend member 4   

They had known Omar for about thirty years, and they had been good friends. Over the 
years they lost contact until Omar saw him in the street and threatened him, a matter that 
was reported to the police. This is his account. 

They had arrived in the UK in around 1989 and Omar came about a year later. They met in 
Bristol and became good friends. He describes Omar as a good man, very hard working but 
who had some kind of mental illness. Sometimes he was ok, other times he was unwell. 
They used to hang out together and go places, but over time they went their own ways, with 
their own families and he said Omar had his own business. 

On recalling Omar’s mental illness, they thought it was some kind of PTSD and that his 
personality would change. He was aware that Omar used to get assistance from the hospital 
and had some form of medication. 

On describing the incident where Omar had threatened him, he said that he had not seen 
Omar for a very long time, but one evening when he was going home from work at around 
10pm, Omar called him out from a café. He was very angry, almost hysterical. He threatened 
me and yet the last time we had spoken, we had shaken hands. He says that he was 
frightened and took the threats seriously and so went to the police station. He told the police 
about his background and described to them Omar s mental health problems. The police 
said they would talk to Omar. He describes ‘they went to his flat, he spoke to the police. He 
left the police station and then he stabbed his flat mate’. 

He went on to explain that the police had called him, after they had spoken to him and said 
that Omar had not meant to harm him and that everything would be ok. Then a few hours 
later he got some phone calls and learned that Omar had stabbed someone. 

Upon exploring the investigation into his allegation of crime, the chair asked for further 
details. He explained that he had provided a statement and the police said they would talk to 
him. The chair explored whether they had asked him whether he had been informed what 
was going to happen. He replied that he had explained that Omar was unwell and that he 
thought Omar may harm himself or someone else. The chair enquired whether there was a 
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14.3.50 In 2018, Omar had more frequent contact with agencies, including treatment with mental 
health specialists and the police. There continued to be unremarkable contacts with BCC 
H&LS including contact and repairs for household maintenance issues and notes regarding 
rent payments and his GP in respect of routine medical health concerns. 

14.3.51 Hassan also had a number of contacts with his GP and one with the police and hospital 
regarding a road traffic collision that is unrelated to this review. 

14.3.52 POLICE: On the 5th January, Omar’s ex-partner called police and made an allegation of 
assault, allegedly causing a bleeding nose. On the arrival of police, she appeared intoxicated 
and both said they were not in a relationship and the victim was dropped off at another 
address. A domestic abuse stalking and harassment risk identification checklist (DASH-RIC 
or DASH) was not completed. 

14.3.53 HOUSING: During January through to March, there were five entries on records regarding 
Omar, two related to rental payments and five related to routine home maintenance issues. 

14.3.54 GP1: On the 10th January Omar attends the GP for a further post-traumatic stress review 
and over the following two days other routine medical testing. 

14.3.55 GP2: In March, the first recorded contacts with Hassan are recorded, with the first 
appointment on the 6th March, blood tests a week later. Hassan was diagnosed with 
Hepatitis B and a series of entries on his records document treatment and notification to 
Public Health England. As a result, it was recommended that household members ought to 
be vaccinated against Hepatitis. 

14.3.56 GP2: In relation to this, on the 15th March, he was referred via a social prescribing route to 
“Wellspring Healthy Living Centre” a local charity that ‘exists to address the health 
inequalities experienced by residents’13 in the immediate locality. The GP practice noted on 
25th April that Hassan did not engage with this service. 

14.3.57 GP2: In April, Hassan was referred to hepatology services and the medical records in May 
show that he failed to attend a follow up GP appointment as well as his hepatology 
appointment., not seeing his GP again until December. 

14.3.58 GP1: During April and May there are a number of entries in respect of a condition Omar had 
been diagnosed with tardive dyskinesia. On the 23rd April he attended with a carer and 
there was a discussion around his medication and it was agreed that a referral would be 
made in respect of his condition.  In mid-May Avon and Wiltshire Mental Health Partnership 
Trust (AWP) receive a referral for PTSD regarding historical war experiences  

 and ongoing issues with tardive dyskinesia. 
This resulted in a face-to-face assessment until June. 

14.3.59 AWP: On 10th May Omar’s GP made a referral via Bristol Mental Health Single Point of 
Entry for assessment of historical war related PTSD,  

and continuing problems with tardive dyskinesia.  

14.3.60 POLICE: On the 29th May Before his appointment with AWP, Omar reported a domestic 
incident to the police. There had been a verbal argument between Omar and his ex-partner. 
She was intoxicated and wanted her belongings and he wanted her to leave his address. 
Omar was happy to hand over the property and she then left the address. A DASH was not 
completed in respect of this incident. 

14.3.61 AWP: On the 7th June, Omar attended an appointment at AWP with a friend that resulted in 
a number of actions. These included referring Omar to Nilaari for culturally sensitive talking 
therapy, writing a letter of support in respect of Personal Independence Payments and 

 
13 Source: Source: Wellspring Healthy Living Centre - Health and Wellbeing Services in Bristol - About us - 
(wellspringhlc.org.uk) (Accessed May 2021) 
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providing contact details for Bristol Crisis Line and Sanctuary. In addition, it was concluded 
that Omar’s symptoms were not consistent with tardive dyskinesia and that physical 
investigations ought to take place regarding the symptoms. It was further recommended that 
there ought to be a change of medication (anti-depressant) to Mirtazapine. There are a 
number of ‘log entries’ regarding correspondence between medical professionals (AWP and 
GP Practice), but Omar was not seen again until the 3rd January 2019. Omar did fail to 
attend an appointment on the 20th July. Omar failed to attend appointments with Nilaari on 
28th June and 1st August. They left a voicemail for him on 30th August and on a further 
attempt to contact him on 5th September, the number did not connect. 

14.3.62 POLICE: On the 7th September police were called to a domestic incident, with a report of 
Omar’s former partner turning up unannounced and intoxicated. She had left by the time 
police arrived, but nevertheless, police conducted a search of his flat to make sure she 
wasn’t there. Police offered to complete a DASH, but Omar declined not wanting to waste 
police time. 

14.3.63 GP2: On the 5th December, Hassan was seen by the GP regarding chronic viral hepatitis. 

14.3.64 POLICE: On the 12th December just before midnight a number of calls were logged the 
ambulance service and the police, as well as calls between the agencies. 

14.3.65 SWASFT: At just before midnight, a person claiming to be a distant relative called the 
ambulance service saying that people in the community had rung him to say that Omar had 
been out in the street showing signs of psychosis an hour earlier and had self-harmed his 
hand. Ambulance control called the police who said they were not attending, but advised that 
they had a number of calls regarding Omar and were able to provide the ambulance service 
some mobile phone numbers for potential contacts for friends of Omar. They spoke to a 
friend and the original informant, despatching an ambulance that arrived at around 6:45am 
on the 13th December. The crew spoke to Omar over the flat intercom system and he 
insisted that he was fine and did not require their help. They recorded that he sounded 
coherent and did not seem in distress. The crew stood down and the incident was closed. 

14.3.66 POLICE: The ambulance service had phoned the police to report a concern for the welfare 
of a 45-year-old male (later identified as Omar), who an hour ago was in the street and had 
self-harmed his hand. The caller to the ambulance was a distant relative and said he thought 
Omar had psychosis. The caller advised the ambulance service that he thought Omar was 
now at home and the caller was concerned that Omar could be self-harming. The ambulance 
service were not yet on scene at the time of the call but were due to attend Omar’s address 
and wanted to inform police as they were unsure what might happen when they arrived. 
They also wanted to inform the police about Omar’s recent behaviour an hour previously, 
namely that Omar was self-harming, being aggressive towards people and showing signs of 
psychosis. 

14.3.67 The police call handler advised ambulance staff to recall police when they were at the 
address should they require police assistance as everything else happened in the past and 
the male was now at home. No police resources were assigned to the incident and no further 
record was made on Niche.14 The call handler has recorded that this incident was a purely 
medical issue and there was nothing to indicate that Omar was not going to engage with the 
ambulance crew. 

14.3.68 POLICE: Another caller “Person 1” contacted police saying he had received phone calls 
from other people approximately 20 minutes ago to say that his friend (later identified as 
Omar) was in the street and he had mental health issues, was being aggressive and was 
cutting his hand with a knife. “Person 1” believed that Omar was now at his home address 
with the knife and had concerns that Omar would either harm himself or someone else. He 

 
14 Niche is a modern, full-featured police records management system. 
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14.3.78 The officer explained it would be unlikely to end up with a positive outcome, with Omar 
facing charges. It was agreed that the officer would speak to Omar informally regarding the 
incident in order to resolve the matter. The officer attended Omar’s address and left a calling 
card asking Omar to contact him. 

14.3.79 Later Omar attended the station and explained he believed that “Person 2” had been lent 
money by him years ago and any threats were made in the heat of the moment. He was now 
willing to leave the matter. Omar appeared very calm and eloquent to the officer and gave 
the impression that the threats were not intended to be carried out. 

14.3.80 The officer informed Omar that “Person 2” did not want to get Omar into trouble and that he 
had declined the option of Omar being formally interviewed. The officer advised Omar that if 
he was owed money, he should seek legal advice and not make threats. The matter was 
closed with no further action. “Person 2” was updated.  

14.3.81 POLICE: Later in the afternoon, that same day, police received a call from a family member 
saying that Omar had come round to his address and claimed that he had murdered 
someone.  

14.3.82 Officers attended Omar’s address and forced entry where they found Hassan’s body lying on 
the floor, with a wound to his chest. 

14.3.83 Paramedics were on scene at the same time and could not find a pulse. Shortly afterwards, 
Hassan was declared dead by a doctor. 

14.3.84 Within fifteen minutes of the original call, police were stopped in the street nearby by Omar, 
who declared that he had murdered someone. Omar was wearing blood-stained clothing and 
was arrested. 

14.3.85 Omar was interviewed three times during the course of his detention before charge in the 
presence of a solicitor and appropriate adult. During his interview he says that he could not 
remember having said that he had murdered someone. He says he didn’t remember wearing 
blood-stained clothing or how he had sustained an injury. During the interview he 
acknowledged suffering from PTSD and taking medication. He also says that he had 
stopped taking his medication a few weeks earlier and that when he doesn’t take his 
medication, he hears voices. 

 

15. OVERVIEW  

15.1 Summary of Information from Family, Friends and Other Informal Network 

  Family and Friends of Hassan 

15.1.1 Regretfully very little is known about Hassan or his family. His immediate family are resident  
in Somalia and a local cousin with whom the police engaged has not engaged in the DHR 
process. 
 

Family and Friends of Omar 

15.1.2 The chair was able to speak to a number of family and friends, who describe Omar as a 
proud man, who found difficulty in managing his mental illness. He was known to have PTSD 
and other issues and to have regularly attended his GP and taken medication for his 
condition. 

15.1.3 At times, he became agitated and it is believed this occurred when he didn’t take his 
medication. 
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15.1.4 Family have expressed dissatisfaction with emergency service responses to two incidents. 
The first relating to information that Omar had been armed with a knife and self- harming in 
the street. The second response to an investigation of a threats to kill allegation, when it is 
said the police were made aware of Omar’s problems. 

15.1.5 They have further expressed broader concerns as to mental illness in the Somali community 
and the response of the ‘system’ to these issues. 

15.2 Summary of Information from Perpetrator 

15.2.1 The chair arranged a virtual meeting with Omar from prison and briefly met with him in the 
Autumn of 2020. He said that he wanted to speak to his solicitor first. The chair contacted his 
solicitor, and it was agreed that a meeting should wait until an appeal had been heard. 
Following the failed appeal, the chair spoke to the solicitor again, and he advised that he 
would be content for the chair to meet Omar. By this time, he had moved prisons. The chair 
wrote to the prison governor in August 2020 and twice to Omar in 2021, seeking a meeting. 
There was no response.  

15.3 Summary of Information known to the Agencies/Professionals Involved 

 Overview 

15.3.1 The following section summarises contact between Hassan and Omar with agencies.  Omar 
had frequent contact with his GP, mental health services and his housing provider, and less 
frequent contact with the police, hospital and ambulance service. Conversely, Hassan had 
infrequent contact with any agency. The panel acknowledged the challenge this presented in 
terms of representing the experience and perspective of the victim and/or perpetrator.  

  Hassan 

15.3.2 Hassan only had limited contact with statutory services, having arrived in the UK in 2014. 

 Health Agencies 

15.3.3 In relation to health, there was limited contact with his GP from the point of registration in 
2014 until 2018. Appointments appear to be routine in nature, with reference to the 
management of a blood Hepatitis and on the 21st March 2018 referral to the Social 
Prescribing Service at Wellspring Healthy Living Centre, that he did not attend. There were 
also two contacts with the local hospital, neither of which are relevant to this review. 

 Police 

15.3.4 Police only had one contact with Hassan that related to an unrelated road traffic collision in 
2018. 

 Omar 

15.3.5  Omar has had a number of contacts with statutory agencies since arriving in the UK in the 
late 1980’s. 

 Health Agencies (GP and Avon & Wiltshire Mental Health Partnership Trust) 

15.3.6 In relation to his health, he suffered from a number of challenges with his mental health. He 
was diagnosed with post-traumatic stress disorder and prior to that period his illness had 
been described as agitated depression and depressive episodes.15 His illness was managed 

 
15 Agitated depression is a type of depression that involves symptoms like restlessness and anger. People who experience this type 

of depression usually don’t feel lethargic or slowed-down. Agitated depression used to be called “melancholia agitata.” It’s now 
known as “mixed mania” or “mixed features.” And it can be seen in people with bipolar disorder. But psychomotor agitation can also 
be seen in major depressive disorder.  Source: https://www.healthline.com/health/agitated-depression (Accessed June 2020) 
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between his general practitioner and specialist mental health practitioners of Avon and 
Wiltshire Mental Health Partnership Trust (AWP). 

15.3.7 Prior to the relevant period, Omar had periodic contact with AWP that had included an 
admission for two weeks in 1998 following a psychotic episode and further mental health 
assessments in 2003 and 2004, following episodes of apparent paranoia. A period of 
stability followed until 2013, when he was diagnosed with reactive depression following the 
death of his grandmother.  

15.3.8 In 2018, he was referred by his GP to AWP in respect of his PTSD and ongoing 
management of tardive dyskinesia. He was discharged and did not follow up a referral to 
culturally sensitive talking therapies.  

 Housing 

15.3.9 Omar had lived in his council flat since November 1999. There is a lengthy case 
management record on Bristol City Council Housing and Landlord Services (BCC H&LS) 
records dealing with rent management. BCC H&LS records show that there was ‘credible 
threat’ marker on their system owing to a previous conviction for a violent offence. Their 
records also note that in 2010 he spent some time in hospital owing to his mental illness. In 
the summer of 2015, he gave permission for BCC H&LS to speak to his cousin to help 
maintain the tenancy. In March 2017 a court order was obtained seeking possession owing 
to concerns regarding sub-letting. This was not acted upon and the case was closed in 
March 2018. 

  Police 

15.3.10 Omar has a history of violence that has been associated with his mental health. Prior to the 
relevant period this included a conviction for grievous bodily harm in 1996 for driving his car 
into his estranged wife. 

15.3.11 During the relevant period 2014 to 2019 he had contact with the police on five occasions as 
summarised below; 

• Three involved Omar having disputes with a female he had a relationship with 
between January and September 2018. 

• One related to Omar suffering a mental health issue and being in possession of a 
knife in December 2018. 

• One in January 2019 involved Omar being in dispute with a male he claimed owed 
him money and was threatening towards him. 

 
South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust (SWASFT) 

15.3.12 The ambulance service had two relevant contacts with Omar during the relevant period. The 
first, just before midnight on the 12th December 2018 related to Omar reportedly self-
harming. The ambulance service attended early the next day, following a number of 
conversations with the informant and police service. Omar was spoken to via intercom, and 
the ambulance service did not examine him. 

15.3.13 The following day, the ambulance service attended after his apparent partner reported him 
as unconscious. He was annoyed at them being called, did not want to be examined and 
signed a disclaimer to that effect. 

  Children’s Social Care 

15.3.14 The contacts Children’s Social Care (CSC) have, related to Omar being a possible father to 
one of seven siblings in a family. Records indicate that he left the family around 2008 and 
contacted CSC in 2010 to make an allegation of neglect that was unsubstantiated. There is 
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no definitive contact recorded thereafter. There are notes of an episode in 2004 that alludes 
to mental illness, but nothing of note during the relevant period.  

 

16. ANALYSIS  

The analysis of this Domestic Homicide Review explores the reasons why events occurred, 
how and whether information was shared and, subsequently, whether the sharing informed 
decisions and actions taken 

16.1 Domestic Abuse/Violence 

16.1.1 This review relies upon the definitions of domestic abuse at the time of the incident and 
commissioning of this review. 

 The Government definition of domestic abuse is: - Any incident or pattern of incidents of 
controlling, coercive, threatening behaviour, violence or abuse between those aged 16 or 
over who are, or have been, intimate partners or family members regardless of gender or 
sexuality. The abuse can encompass, but is not limited, to the following types of abuse: 
psychological, physical, sexual, financial, emotional. 

 Controlling behaviour is defined as: - A range of acts designed to make a person 
subordinate and/or dependent by isolating them from sources of support, exploiting their 
resources and capacities for personal gain, depriving them of the means needed for 
independence, resistance and escape and regulating their everyday behaviour. 

 Coercive behaviour is defined as: - An act or a pattern of acts of assault, threats, 
humiliation and intimidation or other abuse that is used to harm, punish or frighten their 
victim. 

16.1.2 Hassan died as a result of a single, fatal act of violence perpetrated by Omar. 

16.1.3 Regrettably, it has not been possible to build a picture from Hassan’s perspective of the 
surrounding circumstances. The panel have been entirely reliant on information made 
available from the police investigation, the IMR’s and contact with agencies and the 
accounts of Omar’s friends and family. 

16.1.4 Considering an article, “Murder and society: why commit murder?”16 it is suggested that 
murder may be condensed into the four motives of, lust, love, loathing or loot. However, 
there is no clear indication as to motive that are described within the trial judge’s summary, 
nor from agency or family contact that enables this homicide to be categorised within these 
criteria. On considering lust, there is nothing to suggest that the murder was committed for 
sexual pay off or to kill a rival. There is nothing to suggest a mercy killing, nor is their 
evidence to suggest financial gain or loot. The remaining possibility would be that Omar 
loathed Hassan. Again, there is nothing obvious to suggest this as a motivation. 

16.1.5 The panel learned that Hassan and Omar were from different tribes, from Somalia and 
Somaliland respectively. However, it seemed to Omar’s family that rather than difference, 
shared experience may explain why Omar took Hassan in as a lodger, recognising that he 
was unable or didn’t know how to access housing. In this context shared experience 
referring to familial or personal experience of the trauma of war and displacement. 

16.1.6 Exploring the relationship further, there is no information available that indicates that the 
relationship between Omar and Hassan was more personal than an occupier/flatmate 
relationship. This is supported by the accounts of friends and family of Omar who suggested 
that there were other guests staying at the flat, who had moved out owing to Omar’s 

 
16 Source: 09627250608553401.pdf (crimeandjustice.org.uk) (Accessed July 2021) 
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behaviour deteriorating. Apparently, the community had advised Hassan to leave, but he had 
said that Omar was ‘ok with him’.  

 Pattern of Abuse 

16.1.7 There is also no evidence that suggests that Hassan was the victim of a wider pattern of 
domestic violence and abuse perpetrated by Omar whilst he lived with him or whether there 
was a pattern of behaviour toward Hassan that was escalating before the fatal attack. This 
conclusion is based on the information gathered by Avon and Somerset Police as part of the 
murder investigation, as well as provided by agencies, friends and family.  

16.1.8 In the absence of evidence as to a pattern of domestic abuse, the review panel considered 
whether there were other ways of understanding the circumstances of this case. 

 Homicide Timeline 

16.1.9 The panel considered whether Omar had previously had thoughts about homicide in other 
words some form of homicidal ideation, whether there was a journey to homicide through a 
timeline, and/or whether the act of murder was a compulsive act, triggered by circumstances 
or an event. Tragically, without further information that reflects Hassan’s perspective this is 
impossible to determine. 

16.1.10 Recent research17 into domestic homicide has suggested the relevance of homicide triggers. 
When considered together with a person’s psychological state and the presence of 
acknowledged high risk factors, these triggers may indicate homicide is a real threat. These 
triggers include; failing mental health; and losing control of the victim. Once again analysis is 
thwarted without the perspective of Hassan. 

 Mental Health 

16.1.11 One apparent explanation was the extent to which Omar’s mental health may account for the 
homicide. It is clear that Omar had suffered from mental illness for some years and that 
during the relevant period he had routinely undergone PTSD reviews and had sought help in 
relation to medication whose side effects included involuntary facial movements. It is also a 
matter of fact that concerns had been raised by others regarding Omar’s mental health in 
December 2018 and January 2019 that must be considered. 

16.1.12 All Omar’s friends and family that the chair spoke to were aware of his mental illness. They 
spoke about Omar’s difficulties managing his condition, saying sometimes he was OK, but 
there were also episodes of agitation. One of the apparent themes was Omar not taking or 
missing his medication that would have an adverse effect on his wellbeing. They also 
referenced him suffering from tardive dyskinesia, that is an involuntary movement of various 
facial muscles, that was a particularly distressing condition for a proud man such as Omar.  

16.1.13 In the police interview, Omar answered questions in relation to his mental illness and spoke 
about hearing voices that were telling him to kill in the weeks and days prior to the homicide. 
The prevalence of psychosis associated with homicide has been subject of a number of 
studies and in a review of all Domestic Homicides between 1997 and 2008, ‘Mental Illness 
and Domestic Homicide: A Population-Based Descriptive Study’ it was found that; a 
significant minority of domestic homicide perpetrators had symptoms of mental illness at the 
time of the homicide, with adult family homicide more likely to be associated with 
psychosis.18 

16.1.14 Omar’s mental health was certainly a factor in the criminal trial. The sentencing was delayed 
to allow for psychiatric reports to be completed and Omar was convicted for manslaughter as 
opposed to murder on the grounds of diminished responsibility. This is summarised in the 

 
17 Source: http://eprints.glos.ac.uk/4553/1/NSAW%20Report%2004.17%20-%20finalsmall.pdf (Accessed June 2020) 
18 Source: https://ps.psychiatryonline.org/doi/pdf/10.1176/appi.ps.201200484 (Accessed June 2020) 
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16.2.8 There are two entries in 2014 regarding a deliberate overdose and an accidental overdose. 

These are not subject to commentary within the IMR and were explored outside the panel. 

16.2.9 The first overdose was subject to assessment by the liaison psychiatry service in the 

Accident and Emergency department at University Hospitals Bristol and Weston NHS 

Foundation Trust and it was deemed there was no need for changes to his medication as it 

was felt that the crisis trigger had passed and no further action was required. The second 

overdose occurred 5 months later and related to the use of paracetamol for pain relief, when 

he was reminded about the risks of using paracetamol. In any event, he was not seen by the 

practice for around 11 months.  

PTSD 

16.2.10 Numerous entries during the relevant period relate to PTSD reviews. The chair learned 

these reviews are in essence follow-ups to a previous diagnosis, i.e. The diagnosis of PTSD 

has already been made, and in Omar’s case this diagnosis was made in 2008. They were 

not in-depth clinical reviews, rather referring to the production of an ongoing fit note for a 

chronic condition. The outcome of these entries on multiple occasions being the production 

of a statement, a ‘fit note’ enabling someone to claim benefits and be off work. The 

conclusion of which is that Omar was not employed for many years. 

16.2.11 On considering whether more in-depth PTSD reviews were conducted, the chair was 

informed that ’in most cases issues would already have been undertaken by secondary 

mental health care services’. By reference to the AWP IMR, Omar was not seen during the 

relevant period by secondary mental healthcare services until his referral in May 2018. From 

AWP records, the reasons for referral (trigger), being the need for assessment of historical 

war related PTSD, and continuing 

problems with tardive dyskinesia.  
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transitional, in other words not a steady state, with AWP conducting risk assessments when 

there are significant events or at the point of transition. 

16.2.26 For the GP practice the question may arise as to the purpose of any risk assessment and, 

when they should be conducted. In Omar’s case, we know that there were significant events 

(taking overdose,  also suffering from side 

effects) and there was a point of transition from secondary care back to primary care. We 

also know there was a significant gap in time, from the summer of 2018 to January 2019 

when Omar was not seen by his GP. 

16.2.27 Upon further consideration as to the approach to risk management, a useful guide by the 

Department of Health entitled Best Practice in Managing Risk, whilst directed towards 

mental health professionals provides a useful summary of approaches to risk assessment 

and also risk factors.30 

 Approaches to Risk 

16.2.28 The guide summarises three approaches to risk management. 

• An anecdotal approach where information obtained in the course of an ongoing clinical 

assessment is considered. This information is not gathered systematically and any 

information considered relevant is not entered into the formulation of risk in a consistent 

and standardised way. 

• The actuarial approach to risk assessment focuses on static risk factors that have been 

shown to be statistically associated with increased risk in large samples of people. A 

formulaic approach is usually used: an overall score is calculated as an indicator of 

presumed risk over a specific time period, generally measured in years. This approach 

should be used with caution with individual patients in clinical practice. Errors are likely 

to occur if tools based on this approach are used to predict individual risk rather than to 

manage it. They should only be used as one part of an overall risk assessment.  

• Structured clinical (or professional) judgement is the approach that offers the most 

potential where violence risk management is the objective. This approach involves the 

practitioner making a judgement about risk on the basis of combining: – an assessment 

of clearly defined factors derived from research; – clinical experience and knowledge of 

the service user, including the carer’s experience; and – the service user’s own view of 

their experience. 

Risk Factors 

16.2.29 The guide summarises risk factors for violence and includes a number of categories; 

demographic factors; background history; clinical history; psychological and psychosocial 

factors; and context. Within each of these categories are a number of features including his 

history of violence that The Royal College of Psychiatrists in its publication ‘Assessment and 

management of risk to others’ states ‘A history of violence or risk to others is vitally 

important’.31 In Omar’s case we know some history of his experience as a war veteran from 

Somalia. We also know of a criminal history that was also noted in a risk assessment shared 

with the GP in June 2018. 

16.2.30 Risking the counsel of perfection that is hindsight bias, the question arose as to whether in 

similar circumstances, that rather than relying on a change of circumstances, a new event, a 

‘post -transition’ risk assessment ought to be completed. This is supported by the 

 
30 Source: Best Practice Managing Risk Cover (publishing.service.gov.uk) (Accessed January 2021) 
31 Source: assessmentandmanagementrisktoothers.pdf (rcpsych.ac.uk) (Accessed March 2021) 
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16.3.4 AWP followed up with an email to the GP, which concluded that Omar’s symptoms were 

probably not consistent with tardive dyskinesia and suggested a change to his anti-

depressant medication from Citalopram to Mirtazapine 30mg. They also advised that Omar 

stop taking Tetrabenazine and recommended further physical investigations regarding 

problems with his jaw. 

16.3.5 A GP liaison meeting took place a few weeks later and as Omar’s symptoms of tardive 

dyskinesia had now subsided, they re-iterated advice to stop Tetrabenazine, and orientated 

towards the plan as recommended from recent assessment. 

16.3.6 The chair confirmed with the GP that Omar was not seen by the practice until around 6 

months later. His medication was not changed, and Omar continued to receive repeat 

prescriptions for his original medication. He also confirmed that risk was not discussed. 

Risk Assessment 

16.3.7 The panel learned that AWP had conducted six risk assessments during the period 

September 2011 through to June 2018, only one of which occurred during the relevant 

period. The risk assessment covers a number of areas that includes; risk to self; risk from 

others; risk to others. Upon exploration, the panel learned that AWP noted the details of 

Omar’s conviction history and contact with police. 

16.3.8 The matter of how a mental health and risk assessment is conducted was explored, and the 

panel learned that the structure followed is known as the 5 P’s, that is. 

• Presenting Problem – What are the main difficulties at the moment? 

• Predisposing factors – Is there anything from the past that might be influencing how 

the patient feels now? 

• Precipitating factors – Has anything happened that has made the patient feel worse? 

• Perpetuating factors – What might help keep the problem going? 

• Protective factors – Is there anything that helps? 

Forensic History 

16.3.9 Omar had been known to AWP prior to the relevant period. Previous contacts include: 

a) in 1998 having had a two-week admission regarding a khat induced psychosis 

characterised by paranoia with second and third person derogatory auditory 

hallucinations 

b)  in 2003 an informal assessment when he reported low mood, paranoia, hearing voices 

and plans to commit suicide. He was admitted informally to a local ward and self-

discharged the following day. 

c) in 2004 an assessment after an overdose, following argument with his partner. A cousin 

reported that he had been withdrawn and paranoid during previous 10 days, thought 

people were trying to poison him. 

d) in 2011 he was taken on by the by the Community Mental Health Team for CBT and 

vocational services. He did not engage. 

e) in 2013 he was seen having self-inflicted cuts to his arms, (requiring transfusion), and 

was diagnosed with reactive depression, triggered by the death of his grandmother. 

 Risk to Others 

16.3.10 Whilst outside the relevant period, these events show the enduring nature of Omar’s mental 

illness, during which he was convicted of two offences of grievous bodily harm contrary to 

Section 20 of the Offences Against the Person Act (as noted by His Honour Judge Blair QC). 
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opportunity to improve professional curiosity was apparent in dealings with Omar. (See 
16.4.22) 

 

16.5 Avon and Somerset Police Perspective 

16.5.1 During the relevant period police had contact with Omar and/or Hassan on six occasions 
prior to Hassan’s death on the 10/01/2019. None related to any matters between Omar and 
Hassan and the only contact with Hassan has no relevance to this review. 

• Three contacts involved disputes between Omar and a female he had a relationship with 
between January and September 2018. 

• One contact was related to Omar suffering a mental health issue and being in 
possession of a knife in December 2018. 

• One contact was related to a dispute between Omar and another male. Omar claimed 
the male owed him money and threatened him in January 2019.  

 
16.5.2 The following incidents are between Omar and a former partner. 
 

First Incident 
 

16.5.3 Omar’s partner alleged that he had assaulted her. She was outside Omar’s address. She 
was intoxicated and there were no injuries apparent. There was positive practice in respect 
of using body worn video (BWV),though no Domestic Abuse, Stalking and Honour Based 
Violence (DASH) checklist was completed.49 She presented as intoxicated and abusive and 
gave officers conflicting accounts, whilst Omar presented as calm allowing officers into his 
flat to retrieve property for her. This case did not result in a domestic abuse investigation, 
when it could have been considered, as they had been in a previous relationship. It seems 
the officers took the decision and did what they thought was right under the circumstances at 
the time to deal with the matter informally as a property dispute, diffusing the situation by 
giving her a lift to another address thereby limiting the extent of any domestic abuse 
investigation such as neighbour enquiries and listening to 999 tapes. 

Second Incident 
 

16.5.4 Omar called police as he wanted his partner to leave. She was intoxicated and wanted to 
have property returned that she had left there. It does not seem that BWV was used, and a 
DASH was not completed. 
 
Third Incident 
 

16.5.5 Omar called police and alleged that the same female was harassing him. Police did not see 
her and searched his flat to make sure she was not there. She had apparently been 
intoxicated. Police offered to complete a DASH, but it was not completed. 
 

16.5.6 Whilst the use of BWV is seen as best practice in respect of the initial investigation of 
domestic abuse offences, the police did not complete a DASH for any of the domestic 
incidents. Only one would have been completed with Omar as the alleged perpetrator and 
two with him as the victim. Upon exploration, it seems that at the third incident, an attempt 
was made, but he refused to answer the set questions and thus it was not completed. 

 
49 Source: The Domestic Abuse, Stalking and Honour Based Violence (DASH 2009) Risk Identification, Assessment and Management Model was 

implemented across all police services in the UK from March 2009, having been accredited by ACPO Council, now known as National Police Chief 

Council (NPCC): Dash Risk Checklist – Saving lives through early risk identification, intervention and prevention (Accessed 
February 2021) 
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16.6.4 On reviewing the call log, the ambulance service was presented with some initial difficulties, 

in that the informant was a third party, who had not directly witnessed Omar self-harming. 

His whereabouts were unclear, so the ambulance service spoke to the police within five 

minutes of the initial call. The police reported that they had received a number of calls and 

were not attending. The police provided some potential contact numbers that were 

attempted and voicemails were left. They spoke to the original informant and the log shows 

that he was concerned about Omar, but he himself had no contact number for him. It was 

the callers concern for Omar that contributed to the decision to deploy an ambulance, though 

this was not a high priority call. This shows that the ambulance service was proactive in 

trying to find out further information. 

 Intelligence and Information 

16.6.5 The ambulance service spoke to the police within five minutes of the original call and this is 

recognised as effective practice. A further call to the police was made later and details were 

obtained for a possible phone number for Omar and for the original informant. 

16.6.6 Whilst efforts were made to establish details from the police and the public, the question 

arose as to broader information seeking, after all Omar had been described as psychotic. 

The panel learned that at that time of day, there are no other sources of information 

available and the ambulance service is reliant on seeking information from the police in this 

kind of situation. See 16.5.35. 

Urgency of Response 

16.6.7 The panel explored the urgency attributed to this call and referred to a policy entitled 

“Requests for Assistance and/or Support Regional Collaboration Agreement Between the 

South West Regional Police Forces, Fire & Rescue Services and South Western Ambulance 

Service NHS Foundation Trust”. This describes four categories of response as shown in the 

diagram below. This is reflective of the National NHS categories as outlined by the NHS 

Ambulance Response Programme.58 

 

 
58 Source: https://www.england.nhs.uk/urgent-emergency-care/improving-ambulance-services/arp/ (Accessed August 
2020) 
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16.6.8 This incident was categorised as ‘Category 3’ that is patients who are in urgent need of 

medical assistance and attracts a target response time of 120 minutes. The final code given 

to this call is summarised as; “patient is suffering from a mental health issue, with unknown 

status, however there is potential for them to be violent”.  

16.6.9 The ambulance service made twelve calls in advance of their final attendance, attempting to 

contact Omar on a phone number given, as well as the original informant and engaging with 

the police. These attempts were made between 2.29am and 5.51am and included contact 

with another friend who did not know where Omar was. 

16.6.10 The concise investigation report observed that the first attempt at a welfare call (at 2.29am) 

to the patient was outside the two-hour standard of the service standing operating 

procedures. At this point, Omar’s phone number was not available and didn’t become 

available until 3.21am. Since the date of this incident, the standing operating procedure has 

been rewritten and released on the 20th April 2020 and renamed ‘Procedure of ensuring the 

safety of Unallocated Calls’. The concise investigation reported “It was re-written because 

there ‘needs to be an understanding that as demand continues to increase, our capacity to 

respond in a timely manner to some patients decreases, as does our ability to maintain 

welfare calls to all patients. As such, we need to adapt our approach and ensure we 

continue to operate a safe as possible service.” This procedure was further updated in 

January 2021. Guidance is now based on the size of the ‘stack’ (the queue of outstanding 

999 calls). It should be noted that the demand profile during the coronavirus pandemic has 

been so unique and unpredictable that many procedures have had to be redesigned. 

Commissioners and regulators have oversight of the risk management of the stack. 
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16.6.11 The final time of arrival was 6 hours 53 minutes later. The ambulance concise investigation 

report examines the delays and it is noted that this call was escalated and reviewed by a 

supervisor who maintained the call as a category 3. The responsiveness has to be seen 

against a background of increasing demand. Between midnight and 1am, there were ten 

category 2 calls awaiting deployment. Furthermore at 1.08am the duty manager notes there 

were 48 active calls and 68 awaiting allocation. These issues were also compounded by 

handover delays at hospitals across the region. One may therefore conclude that the service 

response time was understandable and whilst maintaining the call at a category 3, attempted 

to make contact with the patient and others throughout the deployment period. 

Action on Scene 

16.6.12 The ambulance service attended a number of hours after the initial call and a number of 

matters arose. The first matter relating to the decision to speak to Omar via an intercom and 

not seek to speak to him in person. On the one hand, it was reported that at the time of 

SWASFT attendance he sounded coherent and did not seem in distress, and yet on the 

other hand he was reported earlier as having been psychotic, self-harming and others were 

worried about him. 

16.6.13 On discussion with the panel representative, it was learned that it is a relatively frequent 

occurrence for ambulance crews to get stood down at the door without getting access to 

patients with ambulance crews having to make dynamic decisions about risk. In 

conversations at the door, the crew would have been observing for any evidence that a 

person was in need of immediate assistance and either couldn’t communicate or was being 

prevented from communicating their distress. If any evidence was present, the crew would 

have recalled the police and asked them to arrange forced entry to the property. 

16.6.14 To assist panel understanding of the decision making of the attending ambulance crew, the 

SWASFT representative drew the panels attention to the joint decision- making model as 

shown below. It was noted that this is in effect the same decision-making model used by the 

police service.  
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16.6.15 In this particular case, the ambulance crew would have been weighing up the ‘reported 

information’ versus the ‘information observed’. And in this case, as we have learned at 

16.6.6 above, the only other information available was that supplied by the police. 

16.6.16 Notwithstanding, the attending crews decided no further immediate action was required, it 

seemed that Omar had at the very least presented to others some degree of vulnerability 

and this raised the question as to whether any alerts were considered and/or reported such 

as a safeguarding alert.  

16.6.17 In order to consider the necessity for such an alert, one has to consider, the totality of 

information available and in this case, it was deemed there was insufficient information 

available to merit a safeguarding alert, being reliant on information reported and 

communication with Omar via the intercom.  

16.6.18 The attending clinicians, would have also considered a number of powers and policies 

available at the time. These would likely have included;  

• the need to seek police assistance to exercise powers to safe life and limb under the 

Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 

• powers under the Mental Health Act 1983 where there are concerns regarding a 

subject’s suffering from a mental disorder. 

• the Human Rights Act including specifically the right to life and rights to a private life.  

Given, that the physical injury did not require treatment the following day when SWASFT 

attended and there are no other medical records, it may reasonably be concluded the 

decision not to use powers to secure entry to save life and limb was correct. 
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16.6.19 The panel explored what other mechanisms may have been available to alert agencies as to 

Omar’s behaviour and the only other option would have been to refer the patient to the GP. 

Such decisions are made on a case-by-case basis by frontline clinicians depending on the 

amount of information available, whilst working through the decision-making model in the 

diagram above. The chair was informed that express consent is required for such a referral 

when patients have the capacity to consent. Matters arising, therefore include (a) mental 

capacity, (b) whether he was asked and (c) the matter of consent.  

16.6.20 Issues of mental capacity are guided by five principles, the first of which is “A person must 

be assumed to have capacity, unless it is established that he lacks capacity”.59 It is therefore 

acknowledged that it was Omar’s right not to be examined, nor to consent to any alert being 

made. 

16.6.21 Whilst it has not been possible to determine whether Omar was asked if he consented to his 

GP being alerted, a number of pertinent points from the Annual Report of the SWASFT 

Safeguarding Service 2018/19 60 show a positive direction of travel for safeguarding referrals 

and alerts to GP’s. Mental health, self-harm and suicide were in the top ten of reported 

markers for submitting safeguarding alerts for adults. 61  The levels of safeguarding training 

achieved stood at 92% and 95% for staff requiring training. The level of safeguarding alerts 

and referrals to GP’s had increased incrementally for the past 5 years, adult alerts went up 

20% in the last year alone, and GPs received almost 50% more referrals than the next 

nearest agency adult social care. 

16.6.22 The law regarding sharing of information is complex. The Information Commissioners Office 

(ICO) describe six reasons for sharing, one of which is consent. Another lawful basis that 

one may consider is ‘vital interests’ but goes on to describe the necessity being borne of a 

reason to ‘protect your life or the life of someone else’62. However, if this argument were 

used, then the ambulance service would have sought police assistance and forced entry to 

save life and limb, and arguably a referral could then have been made without consent. 

16.6.23 Mindful of the risks of hindsight bias, considering the first part of the decision-making model 

on ‘gathering information and intelligence’ and in the knowledge that Omar had received 

treatment from specialist mental health clinicians in the last six months, it could be argued 

that the attending crew’s inability to access information limited the holistic view of the 

circumstances.  

16.6.24 In discourse with the SWASFT panel representative, an alternative view was put forward that 

‘the trust knows that pre-hospital clinicians are prone to bias from analysis arising from 

patient risk investigation. Consequently, as part of human factors training, frontline clinicians 

are encouraged to see each episode of contact as a fresh event’ It is recognised that 

medical and social history is important, but it is more important to assess pre-hospital clinical 

risk on a case-by-case basis using the presenting signs and symptoms.  

16.6.25 However, it seems to the chair and panel, that the lack of an available forensic history limited 

the information picture upon which to make decisions at the time. It is not possible to 

conclude an alternative decision about seeking police assistance to force entry and then 

alerting Omar’s GP would have been made, but that the basis would have been better 

informed. It is also not suggested that, approximately 1 million calls to the ambulance trust 

 
59 Source: Mental Capacity Act 2005 (legislation.gov.uk) (Accessed August 2021) 
60 IBID 
61 Source: https://www.swast.nhs.uk/assets/1/swasftsafeguarding service annual report2018-19.pdf (Accessed 
August 2020) 
62 Source: Does an organisation need my consent? | ICO (Accessed June 2021) 
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result in an alert to a GP. After all, of the Safeguarding alerts, only 569 were made on the 

basis of self-harm or suicidal ideation.63 However, it is acknowledged such events would be 

of interest to a patient’s GP and an opportunity my arise to consider whether self-

harm/suicidal ideation incidents may meet the ‘vital interests’’ criteria of the ICO. 

 

16.6.26 The challenges of responding to incidents of self-harming and suicidal ideation is subject to 

specific comment in a revised version 5 of the SAWS clinical guidance entitled ‘Mental 

Health and Capacity Considerations in Patients Who Present as Having Self-Harmed or 

Attempted Suicide’, wherein it specifically advises consideration must be made with the 

patients consent to refer to or access support including Mind, mental health crisis team, 

Samaritans or GP. This guidance is recognised as informative and good practice. 

 

16.6.27 The guidance further comments on decisions to alert GPs without consent. 

 

“Patient refuses referral to other health and social care professionals … the patient may 
express that they do not consent to other healthcare professionals being contacted. 
However, if the patient is at risk of serious harm to themselves (or others) and is at risk from 
deterioration from their condition, this is a justifiable reason when confidentiality may be 
over-ridden in the patient’s best interests, as the risks posed by non-disclosure likely 
outweigh the risks posed by disclosure to specialist healthcare professionals”. 

16.6.28 The above statement of identifying that a patient is at risk of harm, is in part reliant on 
possessing all the information available. It therefore adds weight to the argument of ensuring 
attendant clinicians have available relevant medical information.  

Incident 2 

16.6.29 The second contact with the ambulance service took place the following day, in the early 

hours when Omar’s apparent partner reported Omar had gone to bed as normal and when 

she had tried to wake him thought that he was unconscious and not breathing so rang 999. 

On exploring this incident with SWASFT, they reported Omar was annoyed at his partner 

having called them, he appeared to be healthy, alert and orientated scoring 15/15 on the 

Glasgow Coma Scale that is described as ‘a practical method for assessment of impairment 

of conscious level in response to defined stimuli’. 64 His capacity was assessed via the 

CURE test and found to have full capacity. The CURE test is a four is a four-stage 

assessment of a patient’s ability to; communicate a decision; understand the information that 

would enable them to make the decision; retain the information in order to make the 

decision; employ the information to make the decision effectively. 65 

16.6.30 Furthermore, Omar said he did not want to be checked over and signed a disclaimer to that 

effect. This is recognised as positive practice. 

16.6.31 The question arose as to whether Omar was identified by SWASFT as the patient 

experiencing a mental health crisis and self-harming in the street the service had spoken to 

the previous day. Whilst commentary at 16.6.21 applies, it seems that this presented an 

opportunity to consider the events of the previous day, it would also seem that the outcome 

would have been the same, in that he was spoken to, underwent the four-stage assessment 

and declined assistance. 

 
63 IBID 
64 Source: https://www.glasgowcomascale.org/ (Accessed August 2020) 
65 Source: https://mentalhealthcop.wordpress.com/2012/05/09/the-cure-test/ (Accessed August 2020) 
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16.6.32 Notwithstanding, whether he was identified as the same person, it seems that these events 

that in effect took place within a day demonstrate the changeable nature of Omar’s 

behaviour. 

Summary Analysis in Respect of Key Lines of Enquiry 

Term 1 – Family awareness of abuse and barriers to reporting. 
 

16.6.33 There is no evidence of either Hassan or Omar having been involved in an abusive 

relationship. 

Term 2 – Interagency Communication 
 

16.6.34 The ambulance service contacted police within five minutes of the initial call. This is good 
practice. A further call was made at 3.21am and potential contact details were obtained for 
the patient. This allowed for numerous attempts to be made to try and speak to Omar. 

Term 3 – Standards and Policy 
 

16.6.35 The service was unable to meet its policy to make welfare calls within 2 hours as, on the first 
attempt at 2.29am, they did not have a potential phone number for Omar. This only became 
available at 3.21am, after a further call to the police, suggesting an opportunity to try and 
gain more information earlier. This policy has subsequently been reviewed. 

 
Term 4 – Agency Actions (Assessment, Actions, Relevance and Timeliness) 
 

16.6.36 Two incidents arose for potential assessment. With regard to the first incident of self-
harming, there was insufficient information available to consider a safeguarding alert and it 
was not clear if consent was given to alert Omar’s GP. It was recognised that decisions 
made on attending the first incident were based on presenting facts in accordance with 
training, but that had Omar’s forensic history been available, decisions would have been 
better informed, though not necessarily different. In this case Omar had sounded lucid and 
coherent, and the option of seeking further police assistance to force entry was not deemed 
necessary. 

16.6.37 Ultimately a decision made precluded an alert being made to his GP that there had been an 
event of concern indicating a change in the steady state of Omar’s mental health. 

16.6.38 Ambulance crews did speak to him on the second incident, and he was dealt with again on 
the basis of presenting symptoms and no further information was sought as to forensic 
history, nor was the call the previous day identified. However, he did undertake a four-stage 
test in respect of decision making and declined assistance.  

16.6.39 Whilst attempting to avoid the counsel of perfection ‘hindsight bias’, there was relevant 
information in existence, but not immediately available that would have been helpful. The 
panel note the reliance on police information at paragraph 16.6.6 that is subject of other 
learning opportunities (LO19 & LO20).  

  

 Term 5 - Thresholds 
 

16.6.40 Ambulance crews have worked in accordance with training and in accordance with 
safeguarding legislation and guidance as to only alerting GPs. It was determined there was 
insufficient information to merit a safeguarding alert and no information has subsequently 
come to light that would have merited an alert. 

16.6.41 On further consideration an alert to GP with a patient’s consent, it seemed to the panel that 
Omar’s GP would have wanted to know of this incident as a ’trigger event’ as it may have 
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aided ongoing treatment in primary care. The panel are also mindful of the progress and 
significant reported increases in GP alerts. 

16.6.42 The panels attention was drawn to SWASFT’s Revised Clinical Guidance ‘Mental Health and 
Capacity Considerations in Patients Who Present as Having Self-Harmed or Attempted 
Suicide’ that adds weight to the argument that clinicians would benefit from having as much 
information as possible to inform their decision making. 

Term 6 – Cultural Sensitivity 
 

16.6.43 The ambulance crews were able to communicate with Omar, via intercom and then in 
person on two separate occasions. There were no barriers apparent. 

Term 7 – Escalation 
 

16.6.44 The calls were subject to continued assessment and supervision against a background of 
changing demand. 

Term 8 – Training and Awareness issues 

16.6.45 The trust’s safeguarding training has demonstrable (95%Level 1, and 92% Level 2). 
Effectiveness is translated in respect of significant increases in alerts over 5 years prior to 
2018/19. 

 Good Practice 

16.6.46 SWASFT were tenacious in their response to the first incident, making twelve calls, before 
being able to deploy a unit. 

16.6.47 Improved training compliance and resultant outcomes regarding safeguarding alerts are 
acknowledged. 

16.6.48 SWASFT Revised Clinical Guidance ‘Mental Health and Capacity Considerations in Patients 
Who Present as Having Self-Harmed or Attempted Suicide’ is recognised for its detail and 
comprehensive consideration of factors to inform clinician decision making. 

 

16.7 Broader Considerations Arising from Family Engagement 

16.7.1 On speaking to the friends and family of Omar, this enabled a broader understanding of 
some of the cultural issues that may be pertinent to this review. 

 Clans 

16.7.2 A useful reference document entitled “Culture, context and mental health of Somali 
refugees”66 provides some narrative of relevance to this review, that added understanding to 
the accounts of four/five family members/friends of Omar. 

16.7.3 The chair learned that Omar and Hassan came from different clans and geographic areas of 
Africa, with Omar coming form an area previously known as British Somaliland and the other 
the Italian administered ‘United Nations Trust Territory of Somalia’ that merged into the 
Republic of Somalia. 

16.7.4 The chair has been able to speak to those associated with Omar, but not Hassan. In part this 
may be owing to the fact that Hassan had only recently arrived to the UK but may in part 
also be explained by the strong clan system that exists within the Somali community. 

 
66 Source: https://data2.unhcr.org/en/documents/download/52624 (Accessed April 2020) 
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16.7.5 On attempting to speak to Hassan’s family, the chair was informed that the family wanted to 
put matters behind them. Other family members explained that elders had become involved 
and as far as the families were concerned, an agreement had been reached. It may be that a 
traditional approach to resolving disputes had been used that is, usefully described in a 
UNHCR publication ‘Culture, context and mental health of Somali refugees’, describing 
“Xeer and diya Somali customary law (xeer/heer) is an oral system of pre-Islamic origin and 
is often practiced for resolving social problems, for example when conflicts arise between 
families. When a problem has occurred, the elders (xeer beegti) come together to find an 
agreement between the parties involved”.67 

 Mental Illness and Somali Community 

16.7.6 Each of Omar’s friends and family members were well aware that he suffered from mental 
illness, and some referred to some kind of PTSD. They spoke about periods when he was 
well, but also periods when he became agitated. One spoke of a psychosis and of Omar 
hearing voices and Omar accusing them of spying on him. They had also said this became 
worse when Omar didn’t take his medication. This was confirmed by another that they had 
heard he didn’t like taking his tablets. What was clear from these friends was that Omar had 
problems with his mental health for many years and certainly since he arrived in the UK in 
around 1989. 

16.7.7 The chair explored what help Omar had, his friends and family members were aware that he 
had been on some medication and was under the treatment of his doctor. They were also 
aware that he had spent some time at a psychiatric hospital. One family member explained 
that there was a stigma in the Somali community about mental illness. They went on to say 
that Omar’s issues in respect of mental illness were the tip of an iceberg of mental health 
problems in the Somali community. They further expressed a view that the Somali 
community were unsure of how to present themselves and seek help for mental illness. 

16.7.8 One of Omar’s cousins explained how they had sought to help Omar, how they had attended 
the GP surgery as support for him. This was at a time, when he was particularly suffering 
from facial tics, having difficulty closing his mouth and his tongue would hang out. Upon 
asking whether this led to other help, or whether Omar had sought any traditional Somali 
treatments, they said he relied on the GP and recalls he had been to the hospital for help but 
did not seek help from other sources. 

16.7.9 The concept of mental illness is referenced in the UN Refugee Agency document “Culture, 
context and mental health of Somali refugees”. This document explains that a person 
affected by a severe mental illness is described as “waali”, literally translated as ‘craziness’ 
or ‘madness’. Furthermore, the document explains “labelling someone as being waali may 
lead to social exclusion, isolation and stigmatisation. Persons who are waali have an almost 
total lack of access to marriage and employment and are usually excluded from taking any 
form of responsibility within the family or community.” That is not to say that Omar’s 
conditions and presentations were that extreme, but when also seen alongside tardive 
dyskinesia, one can imagine the negative effect on Omar, a man whose friends describe as 
very proud. 

16.7.10 The Council of Somali Organisations reported that stigma is the biggest challenge for the 
Somali community in the UK in the context of mental health. Though labelling and stigma 
attached to people with mental illness is rather common among other societies, it is more 
intense and more evident in communities that hold the kinship network in high regard. In a 
nutshell, people with mental illness are stigmatised and accused of being incurable.68 

 
67 Source: 5bbb73b14.pdf (unhcr.org) (Accessed December 2021) 
68 Source: https://www.councilofsomaliorgs.com/sites/default/files/resources/CSO-M.Health%20Report.pdf (Accessed 
April 2020) 
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 Community 

16.8.2 On considering how single men may find accommodation, it was commented on that it was 
not unusual for the Somali community to take people in and provide accommodation. They 
recognised that of course, payment may be made for lodgings, but that this practice was 
relatively common, given the rental costs of accommodation in the area. 

 Mental Illness 

16.8.3 The representatives were aware that Omar was living with mental illness, had been in 
contact with agencies shortly before the incident, and that this was a key feature of this 
homicide. They suggested that there may have been a systemic failure in providing the 
support, and taking the action required in respect of Omar and his mental illness. As the 
representatives did not have first-hand knowledge of Omar and his interaction with agencies 
interaction, the chair explored broader themes pertinent to the Somali community and 
‘enablers’ and ‘barriers’ to the community accessing support and help for mental illness. 

 General Comment 

16.8.4 They observed that the majority of the community had been affected by war, trauma of some 
description and displacement. They spoke of their own experience through their 
organisations of human trafficking, exploitation and modern-day slavery. They further 
observed that once individuals had achieved settled status, there was a lack of 
understanding and support for them. A result of which, is that individuals then lived without 
their traumatic experiences and impact on mental health having been properly addressed 
through treatment/ therapy. 

16.8.4 When asked whether there was any evidence to support their personal observations, a 
comment was made that the provision of ‘talking therapies’ was low locally and this was 
supported in various papers, including ‘Racial disparities in mental health: Literature and 
evidence review’. 72 . This article makes a specific recommendation to “provide better access 
to talking therapies according to local need, and engagement with black and minority ethnic 
communities to ensure the therapies are culturally appropriate and geographically 
accessible”. 

Barriers 

16.8.5 A number of factors reflected the observations noted above, such as stigmatisation (16.7.9), 
with added commentary about fear, language barriers, fear of medication and a degree of 
illiteracy regarding medications, mistrust of statutory agencies exacerbated by a lack of 
cultural representation within the system.  
 
Language 

16.8.6  It was explained that sometimes, there was a risk of misunderstanding and communication 
difficulties between the Somali community and medical professionals. This is also noted in 
the article; “Crazy person is crazy person. It doesn’t differentiate”: an exploration into Somali 
views of mental health and access to healthcare in an established UK Somali community”. 73 
The article explains that expectations from mental health services may be hampered by 
“communication difficulties due to misinterpretation of different uses of language and 
gestures”. Further misinterpretation may also arise owing to the need to label certain 

 
72 Source: *mental-health-report-v5-2.pdf (Accessed January 2021) 
73 Source: *“Crazy person is crazy person. It doesn’t differentiate”: an exploration into Somali views of mental health 
and access to healthcare in an established UK Somali community (biomedcentral.com) (Accessed January 2021) 
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conditions, that may not be easily translatable within the Somali community and 
understanding of mental illness.  

Cultural Representation 

16.8.7  Upon exploration, the observation related to the apparent lack of Somali professionals 
providing the care, support and advice, be that GP’s or other specialists. It is beyond the 
scope of this review to test this notion and is reported as the reality being experienced by 
representation from community organisations.  

Fear of medication 

16.8.8 In discussion, this related to an inherent mistrust of some medicines, and given the cultural 
worries and stigmas regarding mental illness, this created particular challenges. When asked 
how this manifested itself, one representative spoke about clients having significant amounts 
of unused medication, as it seemed the prescriptions changed frequently. They did however 
note, this same concern did not apply to antibiotics. 

 Enablers 

16.8.9 The chair notes that his conversations with family and friends of Omar took place 
approximately two years before the conversation with community representatives, and it is 
clear that many of the same observations around barriers were apparent. On exploring what 
would enable or improve how the Somali community engaged with mental health services, 
the subject of pathways to support arose. 

16.8.10 It was explained that many people within the community would approach their mosque or 
Somali organisations as a first port of call, and that this may involve more traditional 
approaches such as prayer. With that in mind, it was suggested there was an overarching 
enabler of the need to strengthen the links between grass-roots organisations and 
mainstream services, with an aspiration for improved communication and collaboration, 
ensuring an accessible, culturally competent service for those living with mental illness. It 
was further suggested that by strengthening the links between the community, grass-roots 
organisations and mainstream services, the impact of barriers such as stigma and language 
may be mitigated. It is further suggested therefore that the learning opportunity in paragraph 
16.7.13 is further validated. 

  

17. CONCLUSIONS and LESSONS LEARNED 

17.1 Conclusions 

17.1.1 The chair and panel are mindful of ‘hindsight bias’, highlighting what might have been done 
differently and avoiding the ‘counsel of perfection’. The review panel has attempted to view 
what happened as broadly as possible, to understand the circumstances of Hassan and 
Omar’s lives to help explain the circumstances of Hassan’s death. The panel has 
unfortunately been unable to gain an understanding of Hassan’s life, as the chair has been 
unable to identify family or friends willing to speak to him or the panel. The chair has 
however been able to consider the views of friends and family of the perpetrator, Omar. 

17.1.2 Hassan was a single man, whose immediate family lived in Somalia and who had some 
family who lived in England. He lodged with the perpetrator, and were no indicators known to 
agencies or that otherwise came to notice of difficulties between him and the perpetrator 
Omar. 

17.1.3 Omar is an older man, had experienced war in Somalia, and had a forensic history of mental 
illness, post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) and tardive dyskinesia (TD). In the two years 
before the homicide, TD that can develop as a side effect of medication, most commonly 
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antipsychotic drugs became problematic, and his mental health deteriorated. According to 
Omar’s friends and family, medication compliance became an issue and effected his 
behaviour. In the judge’s summing up statement, he commented on the issue of medication 
compliance, the deterioration in Omar’s behaviour and how he had lost insight into how 
unwell he had become. In such circumstances, it may be concluded that Omar had two 
competing priorities of managing his mental illness versus the potential side effects of 
medication. It is therefore concluded that his mental illness was a pivotal factor in this 
homicide. 

17.1.4 It is clear that Omar found living with his mental illness and TD difficult. There were a 
number of reports in the six months prior to the incident which made reference to Omar’s 
deteriorating mental health. This coincided with a period when he wasn’t engaged with 
medical professionals and they were not alerted to incidents (December 2018 and January 
2019) which may have indicated a deterioration in Omar’s mental health. Nor was there a 
scheduled, formal assessment of his mental health following a period of assessment and 
changes in medication in the summer of 2018. 

17.1.5 The absence of any relevant history of the ‘familial’ relationship of a tenant and his lodger 
has been a challenge for the panel, and one may argue the homicide as being ‘out of the 
blue’. However, there was a journey to the final act, that it is concluded was the deterioration 
in Omar’s mental health. 

17.1.6 Whilst the review has highlighted learning opportunities, it is not suggested that the tragic 
events were foreseeable. 

 

17.2 Learning 

17.2.1 This review has benefitted from detailed chronologies, candid IMR’s and open conversations 
with panel representatives and other professionals. Whilst it has not been possible to speak 
to Hassan’s family, the review has benefitted from a community perspective provided by 
friends and family of the perpetrator. Collectively, this has added weight to the identification 
of a number of learning opportunities/considerations that are contained within the overall 
analysis for each agency. The review of this case has shone a light on circumstances, 
enabling thematic learning described below that resulted in this panels review 
recommendations that have built upon individual agency recommendations where 
necessary.  Without doubt, a significant focus of learning surrounds the mental health of 
Omar. 

 Mental Illness. Capability of Violence and Medication Compliance (LO1, LO6 refer) 

17.2.2 Omar’s forensic history of mental illness and a deterioration in his mental health is central to 
the final act of homicide. 

17.2.3 Omar had experienced extreme violence in Somalia and had shown himself capable of 
extreme violence in England, having been sentenced to two offences of Grievous Bodily 
Harm. The absence of easy access to information and research on homicide committed by 
those living with mental health issues (and who had previously committed acts of serious 
violence), hindered the panels understanding of this phenomenon. 

17.2.4 It is recognised that mental illness still carries some stigma in wider society, but particularly 
in the Somali community. Omar’s mental illness and physical manifestation of tardive 
dyskinesia potentially linked to medication, was likely particularly embarrassing. In such 
circumstances, it would seem the subject of medicine compliance requires greater vigilance, 
not having been considered in the risk assessment completed. 

              
              Schematic 1. 
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▪ The introduction of a revised Welfare Policy to assist call handling is noted as a positive 
development. 

17.3.5 South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust 

▪ The increased volume of safeguarding and GP alerts is acknowledged as is the relevant 
safeguarding training rates. 

 

18.  RECOMMENDATIONS  

18.1 Local IMR Recommendations 

18.1.1 Bristol City Council Housing and Landlord Services 

▪ Training to ensure that officers know how and when to update occupant lists within Civica 
Cx (new BCC H&LS management system) for tenancy records and the importance of 
doing so in relation to financial impact on the tenant and in terms of managing tenancies/ 
homes. Also, confirm that all officers know the best place to share an authorisation note 
as done positively in Northgate previously in this case.  

▪ The rent management service CCSS form to be reviewed to ensure relevant further 
questions are being sought with the customer. This is so that the form is doing as it was 
created and intended; to act as a method to support tenancy sustainment going forward 
with the tenant. 

▪ Refresh with Internal Audit Team and H&LS sharing information practices and storing this 
correctly when BCC properties have actions undertaken e.g., in this instance a court 
order to prove occupancy. 

18.1.2 Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 
(BNSSG CCG) on behalf of GP practice   

▪ No recommendations 

18.1.3 Avon and Wiltshire Mental Health Partnership NHS Trust 

▪ To raise awareness of complete PTSD pathway in Primary Care 
▪ To identify link role within access services into local Somali community 

18.1.4 University Hospitals Bristol and Weston NHS Foundation Trust 

▪ No recommendations 

18.1.5 Bristol City Council Children and Family Services 

▪ No recommendations 

18.1.1 Avon and Somerset Police 

▪ Training on ‘diagnostic overshadowing’ should be extended to call handlers in addition to 
Control Room supervisors. Please note that this recommendation has already been 
agreed by the Force Incident Manager and plans are in place to arrange protected time 
for call handlers to receive this training.  

▪ The Command-and-Control department should review call script questions and call 
handlers’ use of ‘off-script’ questions in relation to calls where mental health and weapons 
is a feature. The department should take appropriate action to improve in this area as 
required. 

18.1.x South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust 

▪  No recommendations 
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18.2 Panel Recommendations 

 The following recommendations have been agreed by the panel. A detailed 
supporting action plan is to be found at Appendix D. 

▪ Recommendation 1: Take steps to ensure that Nilaari and ROADS, with appropriate 

consent provide updates about patient referrals to primary care (GP) and referrer (if 

not GP)        Public Health 

 

▪ Recommendation 2: Review the protocols for risk assessment and management, 

ensuring that (a) medicine compliance is considered for patients with a history of 

violence, (b) that post transition assessments are scheduled/conducted for this 

cohort, (c) fluctuations in patient insight are considered and (d) that this is explicitly 

documented in the handover between AWP and GP  AWP 

 

▪ Recommendation 3: Improve the understanding of the specific needs of the local 

Somali Community (SC) in respect of Mental Health that includes; - what 

enables/hinders the SC accessing support and that clearly identifies the gaps in 

provision.        Public Health 

 

▪ Recommendation 4: That the learning from this review is shared through mandatory 

safeguarding training to encourage increased professional curiosity when presented 

with potential client welfare concerns.    BCC H&LS /Police 

 

▪ Recommendation 5: Seek to ensure that staff are aware of how to access medical 

information out of hours.      Police/SWASFT 

 

▪ Recommendation 6: Avon and Somerset Police to review call handling policy where 

there are multiple apparent risk factors and implement a systemic approach that 

mandates these calls being supervised.    Police 

 

▪ Recommendation 7: Avon and Somerset Police to review their systems of call 

handling to ensure that intelligence checks are carried out and recorded within the 

call handling system.       Police 
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APPENDIX A 
 
Terms of Reference         
 
1. The purpose of this review   

 

• Conduct effective analysis and draw sound conclusions from the information 
related to the case, according to best practice. 

 
• Establish what lessons are to be learned from the case about the way in which 

local professionals and organisations work individually and together to safeguard 
and support victims of domestic violence including their dependent children.  

 
• Identify clearly what lessons are both within and between those agencies. 

Identifying timescales within which they will be acted upon and what is expected 
to change as a result.  

 
• Apply these lessons to service responses including changes to policies and 

procedures as appropriate; and  
 

• Contribute to the Prevention of Homicide and improve service responses for all 
domestic violence victims and their children through improved intra and inter-
agency working.  

 
• Highlight any fast-track lessons that can be learned ahead of the report 

publication to ensure better service provision or prevent loss of life. 
 
2.  Overview and Accountability: 
 
2.1 The decision for Bristol to undertake a Domestic Homicide Review (DHR) was taken 

by the Chair of the Bristol Community Safety Partnership on the 18th March 2019. 
The Home Office were informed on 19th March 2019. 

 
2.2  The Home Office Statutory Guidance advises where practically possible the DHR 

should be completed within 6 months of the decision made to proceed with the 
review. 

 
2.3  This Domestic Homicide Review is committed to an ethos of fairness, equality, 

openness, and transparency, will be conducted in a thorough, accurate and 
meticulous manner, within the spirit of the Equalities Act 2010 

 
3 The Domestic Homicide Review will consider:  
 
3.1  Each agency’s involvement with Hassan at least 5 years prior to his death on 

10/01/19, except for any other relevant information relating to domestic abuse prior to 
this date. Whilst checking these records we will aim to identify any other significant 
individuals who may be able to help the review by providing information.    

Term 1 – Family awareness of abuse and barriers to reporting. 
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3.2  Whether family, friends or colleagues want to participate in the review. If so, 
ascertain whether they were aware of any abusive behaviour to the victim, prior to 
the homicide (any disclosure, not time limited). 

 
3.3  In relation to the family members, whether there were aware if any abuse and of any 

barriers experienced in reporting abuse? Or best practice that facilitated reporting it? 
 

Term 2 – Interagency Communication 

 
3.4  Could improvement in any of the following have led to a different outcome for Hassan 

considering: - 
 

a) Communication and information sharing between services with regard to the 
safeguarding of adults. 
 

b) Communication within services  
 

c) Communication and publicity to the general public and non-specialist services 
about the nature and prevalence of domestic abuse, and available local specialist 
services 

 
Term 3 – Standards and Policy 

 
3.5  Whether the work undertaken by services in this case are consistent with   
           each organisation’s:  
 

a) Professional standards  
 

b) Domestic abuse policy, procedures and protocols  
 

Term 4 – Agency Actions (Assessment, Actions, Relevance and Timeliness) 

 
3.6  The response of the relevant agencies to any referrals relating to Hassan concerning 

domestic abuse or other significant harm from 2013. It will seek to understand what 
decisions were taken and what actions were or were not carried out, or not, and 
establish the reasons. In particular, the following areas will be explored:  

 
a) Identification of the key opportunities for assessment, decision making and 

effective intervention in this case from the point of any first contact onwards with 
victim or perpetrator. 

 
b) Whether any actions taken were in accordance with assessments and decisions 

made and whether those interventions were timely and effective.  
 

c) Whether appropriate services were offered/provided and/or relevant enquiries 
made in the light of any assessments made.  

 
d) The quality of any risk assessments undertaken by each agency in respect of 

Hassan, children or perpetrators. 
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Term 5 - Thresholds 

 
3.7  Whether organisational thresholds for levels of intervention were set appropriately 

and/or applied correctly, in this case.  
 

Term 6 – Cultural Sensitivity 

 
3.8  Whether practices by all agencies were sensitive to the ethnic, cultural, linguistic and 

religious identity of the respective individuals and whether any specialist needs on 
the part of the subjects were explored, shared appropriately and recorded.  
 
Term 7 – Escalation 

 
3.9  Whether issues were escalated to senior management or other organisations and 

professionals, if appropriate, and completed in a timely manner.  
 

Term 8 – Training and Awareness issues 

3.10  Whether, any training or awareness raising requirements are identified to ensure a 
greater knowledge and understanding of domestic abuse processes and/or services. 

 
3.11 Identify how the resulting information and report should be managed prior to  
           publication with family and friends and after the publication in the media. 
 
3.12 Keep these terms of reference under review to take advantage of any, as yet 

unidentified sources of information or relevant individuals or organisations.       
 
4. Media Strategy 
 
4.1 A single point of contact has been identified to field all media enquiries in relation to 

this DHR and a position statement of “no comment” will be offered until the 
conclusion of the DHR process and sign-off of the overview report by the Home 
Office Quality Assurance Panel.   
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APPENDIX B – Result of Agency Contact Trawl 
Organisation  Hassan Omar 

Adult Care Bristol City Council No Yes 

Addiction and Recovery   No  No 

Avon and Somerset MAPPA No  No 

Avon and Somerset Police  Yes Yes 

Avon and Wiltshire Mental Health Partnership NHS 
Trust  

No Yes 

BSDAS part of ROADS  No Yes 

BCC Substance misuse service Theseus records  No  No 

BDP 
 No  No 

BRI IDSVA   No  No 

Bristol CCG – Primary Care Yes Yes 
Bristol Community Health   No  No 

Bristol Drug Project   

No  No 

Bristol People Directorate – Children Services Yes Yes 

Bristol Royal Infirmary Emergency Dept (IDSVA) No  No 

BSCB No  No 

DHI  No  No 

First response /Early help service, Bristol City 
Council 

No  No 

Green House  No  No 

Housing Options, Bristol City Council  
  

No  No 

Bristol City Council Housing and Landlord Services 
(BCC H&LS) 

No Yes 

Homelessness Prevention Service  No  No 

Liverty (formally Knightstone Housing Association)  No  No 

Next Link, Safe Link, Missing Link  No No 

NHS NBT     

   

One 25   No  No 
OPOKA  No  No 
National Probation Service                                     No Yes 

Probation -Bristol and South Gloucestershire LDU  No Yes 

SARSAS   No  No 

Substance Misuse Team  No  No 

Stand Against Racism & Inequality  

No  No 

Specialist HPT&HCB Advisors, Housing Options No  No 

South Western Ambulance Service NHS 
Foundation Trust  

 
No Yes 

Southmead project  
  

No  No 

St Mungos- Paul Sargent No  No 

The Bridge Sexual Assault Referral Centre 
 

No  No 

 University Hospitals Bristol NHS Trust  
 

Yes Yes 

Victim Support  
 
 

No  No 

YOT  No No 
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APPENDIX C - Independence statement 
 

Chair of Panel 

Mark Wolski was appointed by Somerset Community Safety Partnership as Independent Chair of 
the DVHR Panel and is the author of the report.   

He is a former Metropolitan police officer with 30 years operational service, retiring in February 
2016. 

He served mainly as a uniformed officer, holding the role as Deputy Borough Commander at the 
Boroughs of Haringey, Harrow and at the Specialist Operations command of Aviation Security. 

During his service he gained significant experience leading the response to Domestic Abuse, Public 
Protection and Safeguarding 

Mark has subsequently acted as a consultant in the field of Community Safety, Independent Chair 
of a Marac Steering Group, strategic lead and commissioner of VAWG services and as a DHR 
chair/co-chair. 

During and since his MPS service he has had no personal or operational involvement with Bristol 
Community Safety Partnership. 

  





 

93 | P a g e  
  

insight are considered and (d) 
that this is explicitly documented 
in the handover between AWP 
and GP 

 
Engage with GP’s to adopt. 
 
 
Implement new protocols. 
 
 
 
 
Evaluate impact 

 
 
Communication with GPs 
 
 
Revised case management 
system goes live and 
management audit to ensure 
compliance. 
 
Evaluation undertaken. 
 
 

 
Decembe
r 2022 
 
January 
2023 
 
 
 
July 2023 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Evaluation of 
impact is 
ongoing.  
 

 

Recommendation 3: Improve 
the understanding of the 
specific needs of the local 
Somali Community (SC) in 
respect of Mental Health (MH) 
by carrying out a MH needs 
assessment that includes; - 
what enables/hinders the SC 
accessing support and that 
clearly identifies the gaps in 
provision 

Local Complete  a Needs Assessment 
of the mental health 
experiences, service needs and 
barriers to treatment-seeking of 
the Somali population in Bristol. 

Public 
Health 

Presentation at Health and 
Wellbeing Board/ICB Locality 
Partnership Boards 
 
Dissemination of learning to 
members of Keeping Bristol 
Safe Partnership 
 
ICB Locality Partnership 
Boards to consider 
recommendation 

Dec 2024 
 
 
Jan 2025 
 
 
May 2025 

(Outcome: 
Comprehensi
ve 
understandin
g of enablers 
and 
hindrances to 
Somali 
community 
seeking MH 
treatment to 
inform 
service 
delivery.) 

Recommendation 4: That the 
learning from this review is 
shared through mandatory 
safeguarding training to 
encourage increased 
professional curiosity when 
presented with potential client 
welfare concerns. 
 

Local Learning from this review is 
shared with the training 
departments of agencies.  
 
Agree learning objectives. 
Incorporate into organisational 
training on M.Health / 
Safeguarding 

BCC 
H&LS 
Police 

Learning shared 
 
 
Training/learning devised. 
 
 
Training / learning shared 
with staff 

October 
2022 
 
Decembe
r 2022 
 
January 
2023 

Completed 
Jan 23:  
The concept 
of 
professional 
curiosity is 
now covered 
within all the 
relevant 
courses and 
linked into 
NDM.  UWE 
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have 
ensured their 
lesson plans 
reflect this 
and it has 
been added 
into the PIP 
lessons. 
This case 
has been 
shared with 
training and 
is mentioned 
in PCDA, 
Comms, MH 
TacAd 
training and 
also in the 
LPA input 
(700 
officers). 

Recommendation 5: Seek to 
ensure that staff are aware of 
how to access medical 
information out of hours 

Local KBSP to seek assurance from 
all agencies that frontline staff 
are aware of how to access 
medical out of hours services 
and obtaining relevant medical 
information at times of crisis for 
service users.   

Police/ 
SWASF
T 

Overview report findings 
shared. 
 
 
 
 

Decembe
r 2024 
 

(Outcome: 
Professionals 
are able to 
access 
medical 
information 
out of hours) 

Recommendation 6: Avon and 
Somerset Police to review call 
handling policy where there are 
multiple apparent risk factors 
and implement a systemic 
approach that mandates these 
calls being supervised. 
 

Regional Learning from this review is 
shared with quality 
assurance/governance area 
responsible for call handling. 
 
Review best practice across UK 
and identify options to 
implement ‘flagging’ of multiple 
‘risk factors’ that automate 
mandatory supervision. 

Police Overview report findings 
shared. 
 
 
Task and finish group formed, 
and terms of reference 
agreed. 
 
Policy and systems changes 
made. 

October 
2022 
 
Decembe
r 2022 
 
June 
2023 
 
 

Completed 
Feb 2023: 
Since this 
case in 2018 
we have 
undertaken 
the following 
to address 
the 
recommenda
tion and 
learning:  
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Make necessary changes to 
policy and systems. 
 
Train call handlers and roll out. 
 
Test / audit compliance 

 
Staff trained. 
 
Audit of compliance 
commences and monitored. 
 

July 2023 
 
August 
2023 

 
•            We 
have had 
training in 
diagnostic 
overshadowi
ng  
•            We 
have 
delivered 
refreshed 
THRIVE 
training and 
NDM 
training.  
•            We 
have 
reviewed call 
gradings.  
•            Call 
handlers and 
dispatchers 
assess 
weapons 
incidents for 
severity and 
will transfer 
to the FIM for 
a decision 
around 
tactical 
response. 
Currently this 
process 
elicits a 
review by the 
FIM cadre of 
approximatel
y 10000 
weapons 
jobs a year. 
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This results 
in 
approximatel
y 450-500 
incidents a 
month 
deemed 
appropriate 
for officers to 
attend with 
Taser and 
35-60 
incidents a 
month where 
armed 
officers are 
deployed 
under an 
armed 
authority. 
•            We 
have 
improved our 
access to 
mental health 
support 
through staff 
being based 
in ambulance 
control. 
•            We 
have 
reviewed the 
incidents that 
Comms 
Supervisors 
are asked to 
review due to 
them 
becoming 
overwhelmed 
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by transfers 
due to 
increase in 
overall 
demand, 
particularly 
999 calls. I 
don’t deem it 
suitable to 
task Comms 
Supervisors 
to review 
incidents 
based purely 
upon PNC 
markers – 
the volume 
would be 
overwhelmin
g. PNC 
markers 
should rightly 
be 
considered 
as part of the 
bigger 
picture 
through 
THRIVE and 
NDM but not 
on their own. 
•            
Based upon 
DSI referrals 
(our highest 
is concern for 
welfare) our 
current 
process 
ensures all 
concern for 
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welfare 
incidents are 
reviewed by 
a comms 
supervisor. 
•            We 
accept 
‘learning the 
lessons’ from 
locally 
managed 
and 
independent 
investigation
s, cascading 
departmental 
and 
individual 
learning 
where 
appropriate. 
Some of this 
has been 
around 
greater 
clarity 
between 
police and 
ambulance 
as to who will 
take primacy 
where both 
agencies 
have open 
incidents. 
•            Call 
scripting will 
be renamed 
‘call guides’ 
to encourage 
call handlers 
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to be 
‘professionall
y’ curious 
and ask 
questions 
beyond  ‘ a 
script’. 

Recommendation 7: Avon and 
Somerset Police to review their 
systems of call handling to 
ensure that intelligence checks 
are carried out and recorded 
within the call handling system. 
 

Regional 
 

Learning from this review is 
shared with quality 
assurance/governance area 
responsible for call handling. 
 
Review best practice across UK 
and identify options to 
implement. 
 
Make necessary changes to 
policy and systems. 
 
Train call handlers and roll out. 
 
Test / audit compliance 

 Overview report findings 
shared. 
 
 
Task and finish group formed, 
and terms of reference 
agreed. 
 
Policy and systems changes 
made. 
 
Staff trained. 
 
Audit of compliance 
commences and monitored. 
 

October 
2022 
 
Decembe
r 2022 
 
June 
2023 
 
 
July 2023 
 
August 
2023 

Completed 
Feb 23:   
A new CAD 
and/or CRM 
system is 
being scoped 
and a project 
team are in 
place with 
discovery 
work and 
demo’s 
taking place 
at present. 
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• The date of death was mentioned in both paragraph 1.5 and 13.4.1 with different dates. 

Only the month and year is required. The front page of the report should have the month 

and year of Hassan’s death.  

• At paragraph 6.13, it states that Omar was found guilty of manslaughter, but at paragraph 

10.1, it states that Omar pleaded guilty to manslaughter. Clarification is required.  

• At paragraph 13.2.2 it is stated that Hassan’s entry to the UK has not been determined, but 

at paragraph 15.3.2 it was clearly stated that hie entered the UK in 2014.  

• The review notes the context in which the victim and perpetrator were living, a socially 

deprived area, with high unemployment and wider issues pertaining to mental health, and 

which effectively would have a great impact on unemployment. However, it may be 

beneficial to look deeper at how the Somali community is supported and integrated in this 

area – there are no recommendations pertaining to ensuring that people from the Somali 

community know that they can access help and where to get it from the range of issues 

identified here. That might be worth exploring in more detail.  

• It is unclear why it took 5 years to review Hassan’s death.  

• It would be helpful to know how the panel selected the pseudonyms.   

• The action plan needs to be more detailed with intended outcomes, and the expected 
change we want to see should be more articulated in the action plan with review dates for 
follow ups.  

  

Once completed the Home Office would be grateful if you could provide us with a digital copy of 

the revised final version of the report with all finalised attachments and appendices and the 

weblink to the site where the report will be published. Please ensure this letter is published 

alongside the report.    

Please send the digital copy and weblink to DHREnquiries@homeoffice.gov.uk. This is for our own 

records for future analysis to go towards highlighting best practice and to inform public policy.     

The DHR report including the executive summary and action plan should be converted to a PDF 

document and be smaller than 20 MB in size; this final Home Office QA Panel feedback letter 

should be attached to the end of the report as an annex; and the DHR Action Plan should be added 

to the report as an annex. This should include all implementation updates and note that the action 

plan is a live document and subject to change as outcomes are delivered.  

Please also send a digital copy to the Domestic Abuse Commissioner at  

DHR@domesticabusecommissioner.independent.gov.uk  

On behalf of the QA Panel, I would like to thank you, the report chair and author, and other 

colleagues for the considerable work that you have put into this review.  

Yours sincerely,  

  

Lynne Abrams  

Chair of the Home Office DHR Quality Assurance Panel  
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